

Partition functions of N=1 gauge theories on $S^2 \times R_{-}\epsilon^2$ and duality

Taro Kimura, Jun Nian, Peng Zhao

▶ To cite this version:

Taro Kimura, Jun Nian, Peng Zhao. Partition functions of N=1 gauge theories on S^2 x R_ϵ^2 and duality. International Journal of Modern Physics A, 2020, 35 (33), pp.2050207. 10.1142/S0217751X20502073. hal-03046726

HAL Id: hal-03046726 https://hal.science/hal-03046726v1

Submitted on 21 May 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Partition Functions of $\mathcal{N}=1$ Gauge Theories on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ and Duality

Taro Kimura a , Jun Nian b,c and Peng Zhao d

E-mail: taro.kimura@keio.jp, nian@umich.edu, zhaopeng@itp.ac.cn

ABSTRACT: We compute the partition functions of $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories on $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2_\varepsilon$ using supersymmetric localization. The path integral reduces to a sum over vortices at the poles of S^2 and at the origin of \mathbb{R}^2_ε . The exact partition functions allow us to test Seiberg duality beyond the supersymmetric index. We propose the $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions on the Ω -background, and show that the Nekrasov partition functions can be recovered from these building blocks.

^aDepartment of Physics, Keio University, Kanagawa 223-8521, Japan

^bLeinweber Center for Theoretical Physics, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, U.S.A.

^cRiemann Center for Geometry and Physics, Leibniz University Hannover, D-30167, Germany

^dInstitute of Theoretical Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100190, China

Contents		
1	Introduction	2
2	4D $\mathcal{N}=1$ Supersymmetry	3
	2.1 Background and Killing Spinors	3
	2.2 Vector Multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$	5
	2.3 Gauged (Anti-)Chiral Multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$	8
	2.4 Supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$	10
3	Supersymmetric Action	14
	3.1 δ -Exact Action and BPS Equations	14
	3.2 Classical Solutions	16
	3.3 δ -Closed Action	18
	3.4 Non-Abelian Generalization	19
4	Supersymmetric Localization	21
	4.1 1-Loop Determinants	21
	4.2 Vortex Partition Functions	24
	4.3 Some Discussions	26
5	Seiberg Duality	26
6	Comparison with Nekrasov Partition Functions	31
7	Discussions	35
\mathbf{A}	Convention	36
В	Killing Spinors on S^2	37
\mathbf{C}	2D $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ Supersymmetry	38
	C.1 Vector Multiplet	38
	C.2 Gauged (Anti-)Chiral Multiplet	40
D	BPS Equations and Classical Solutions	43
\mathbf{E}	1-Loop Determinants via Index Theorem	45
\mathbf{F}	Special Functions	46

1 Introduction

The localization technique provides us with an extremely powerful tool for studying physical quantities non-perturbatively [1]. For theories with extended supersymmetry, it has been applied successfully for the computation of partition functions and expectation values of defect operators, as well as precision tests of dualities. In particular, the low-energy physics of $4d \mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories can be studied by computing the Nekrasov partition function [2]. Besides flat space, one can also construct supersymmetry and perform localization on curved spacetimes. Following the pioneering work [3], a plethora of exact results has been obtained in various theories in diverse dimensions.

In minimally supersymmetric theories, which exhibit far richer dynamics, progress has been hindered by the dearth of exact results. Even for 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories, it has been a long-standing problem to localize the theories on the simplest compact manifold S^4 , aside from indirect attempts using holography [4] and analytic continuation in dimensions [5]. The technical difficulties are explained in [6, 7], using the formalism developed in [8–10]. The compact manifolds on which one can place $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories have been classified in [11] and exact calculations were performed in [12–20]. However, most available results are generalizations of the Witten index and related to the well-studied superconformal indices [21, 22]. One notable exception is the partition function on $T^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, which has been computed in [23]. By decoupling the Kaluza-Klein modes on T^2 , the first author and the collaborators provided a partition function test of the 4d/2d correspondence proposed in [24, 25] (see also [26–29]).

Inspired by [23, 30], in this paper we consider $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories on $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2_\varepsilon$. From the 4d point of view, the Killing spinor equation is no longer covariant but depends on the directions. This treatment has been used before in the literature [31, 32]. We highlight that treating different directions separately is a crucial step, which circumvents previous difficulties and allows us to localize $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories in this case. Following the standard procedure, we construct supersymmetric actions, derive the BPS equations and find the classical solutions. We find vortices and anti-vortices located at the north and the south poles of S^2 as well as at the origin of \mathbb{R}^2_ε . This kind of classical configurations is also similar to previous works on Higgs branch localization for other theories and backgrounds [33–38]. The locations of the (anti-)vortices play the role of the fixed points of the supersymmetry algebra, which are the points where the only contributions to the partition function come from.

Finally, we localize $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories in the Higgs branch on the background $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, and the partition function takes the general form:

$$Z = \sum_{\vec{m}, \vec{n}} Z_{\text{class}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{chiral}}, \qquad (1.1)$$

where \vec{m} and \vec{n} denote the vortex and the anti-vortex numbers, respectively. $Z_{\rm class}$ is the classical contribution. The 1-loop determinants $Z_{\rm 1-loop}^{\rm vec}$ and $Z_{\rm 1-loop}^{\rm chiral}$ can be obtained via the index theorem and the results are expressed as infinite products, which can be suitably regularized.

As an application, we use the partition function to test Seiberg duality between two theories. Seiberg duality has already been subject to numerous tests, most rigorously using superconformal indices [39–41]. This paper provides another non-index partition function test of Seiberg duality. Moreover, we expect that our $\mathcal{N}=1$ results can be related to the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Nekrasov partition functions. This is because $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ can be decomposed into two patches, each identified with a 4d Ω -background with equivariant parameters

$$\varepsilon_1 = \pm \frac{1}{\ell}, \qquad \varepsilon_2 = \varepsilon,$$
(1.2)

where ℓ denotes the radius of S^2 . We expect that the results conjectured in this paper can be confirmed by a direct instanton counting in the future.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we construct the $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry first on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, and then on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ through a change of coordinates. In Section 3, we construct the actions that are invariant under the supersymmetry transformations. In addition, we derive the BPS equations from the action and find the classical solutions. In Section 4, the partition functions are computed via the Higgs branch localization. In Section 5, we test Seiberg duality for 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories with unitary gauge groups. In Section 6 we discuss some possible relations between our results and the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Nekrasov partition functions on the Ω -background. Some possible directions for future research are discussed in Section 7. Our convention is summarized in Appendix A. To construct the 4d Killing spinors, we need the 2d Killing spinors on S^2 , which are discussed in detail in Appendix B. The 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry constructed in Section 2 can also be written in terms of 2d fields. Assuming that these 2d fields are independent of the coordinates on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, we can also rewrite the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry as a 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry discussed in Appendix C. Some identities relevant to deriving the BPS equations are listed in Appendix D, where we also discuss the classical solutions to the BPS equations. In Appendix E, we apply the index theorem to compute the 1-loop determinants for the partition function. Some special functions used in the paper are collected in Appendix F.

2 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Supersymmetry

2.1 Background and Killing Spinors

The metric on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ with the 2d Ω -background is given in the coordinates $(\theta, \varphi, w, \bar{w})$ by

$$ds^{2} = \ell^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\varphi^{2}) + |dw - iw\ell\varepsilon \, d\varphi|^{2}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where ℓ denotes the radius of the two-sphere S^2 , and we assume that ε is a real parameter. We choose the real vielbeins e^i $(i = 1, \dots, 4)$ to be

$$e^1 = \ell d\theta$$
, $e^2 = \ell \sin\theta d\varphi$, $e^3 + ie^4 = dw - iw\ell\varepsilon d\varphi$, $e^3 - ie^4 = d\bar{w} + i\bar{w}\ell\varepsilon d\varphi$. (2.2)

Consequently, the nonvanishing components of the spin connection are

$$\omega^{12} = -\omega^{21} = -\cos\theta \, d\varphi \,,$$

$$\omega^{34} = -\omega^{43} = \ell \varepsilon d\varphi \,.$$
(2.3)

Let us define a set of new coordinates:

$$\tilde{\theta} = \theta$$
, $\tilde{\varphi} = \varphi$, $z = w e^{-i\ell\varepsilon\varphi}$, $\bar{z} = \bar{w} e^{i\ell\varepsilon\varphi}$. (2.4)

Although the S^2 part of the coordinates remains the same, to distinguish the new coordinates from the old ones we use $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\varphi})$ instead of (θ, φ) . In the new coordinates $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\varphi}, z, \bar{z})$ we can rewrite the metric (2.1) into the following form:

$$ds^{2} = \ell^{2} (d\tilde{\theta}^{2} + \sin^{2}\tilde{\theta} d\tilde{\varphi}^{2}) + |dz|^{2}, \qquad (2.5)$$

which is the same as the one for $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. In fact, a similar coordinate transformation can be applied to $T^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ discussed in [23] and bring it into $T^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$.

For the new metric (2.5), we can choose a new set of real vielbeins \tilde{e}^i as follows:

$$\tilde{e}^1 = \ell \, d\tilde{\theta} \,, \quad \tilde{e}^2 = \ell \sin\tilde{\theta} \, d\tilde{\varphi} \,, \quad \tilde{e}^3 + i\tilde{e}^4 = dz \,, \quad \tilde{e}^3 - i\tilde{e}^4 = d\bar{z} \,.$$
 (2.6)

Within this new frame, the only nonvanishing components of the spin connection are

$$\widetilde{\omega}^{12} = -\widetilde{\omega}^{21} = -\cos\widetilde{\theta} \, d\widetilde{\varphi} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

To study the supersymmetry defined on the background $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, we first consider the supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, which is done in Subsection 2.2 and 2.3 for the vector multiplet and the gauged (anti-)chiral multiplet respectively, and then we change the coordinates to obtain the supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ in Subsection 2.4.

Now let us study the supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, whose coordinates are denoted by the indices $\{M, N, \dots\}$. In addition, we use the indices $\{\mu, \nu, \dots\}$ and $\{a, b, \dots\}$ to denote the coordinates on S^2 and \mathbb{R}^2 respectively. We consider the following Killing spinor equations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\Upsilon = \frac{1}{2\ell}\Gamma_{\mu}\Gamma_{5}\Upsilon, \quad \nabla_{a}\Upsilon = 0, \qquad (2.8)$$

where the covariant derivatives are defined as

$$\nabla_M \Upsilon \equiv \left(\partial_M + \frac{1}{4} \omega_M^{PQ} \Gamma_{PQ}\right) \Upsilon. \tag{2.9}$$

We would like to emphasize that the non-covariant expression of Eq. (2.8) is crucial in defining an $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry, which can be used to localize the theory, while other choices of Killing spinor equations will not work.

The 4d Killing spinor Υ can be decomposed as two 4d Killing spinors:

$$\Upsilon = \Sigma + \widetilde{\Sigma} \,, \tag{2.10}$$

which can be further decomposed into 2d Killing spinors:

$$\Sigma = \epsilon \otimes \zeta_{+}, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma} = \widetilde{\epsilon} \otimes \zeta_{-},$$
 (2.11)

¹We would like to thank Cyril Closset for very helpful discussions on this point.

where ζ_{\pm} are eigenvectors of σ_3 , which in practice are chosen to be

$$\zeta_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.12)

while ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ are the 2d Killing spinors on S^2 satisfying

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = \frac{1}{2\ell}\sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3}\epsilon \,, \quad \nabla_{\mu}\tilde{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{2\ell}\sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3}\tilde{\epsilon} \,. \tag{2.13}$$

These equations are the same as a version of the 2d Killing spinor equations on S^2 discussed in [33, 34, 42]. They can be solved exactly, and the main results of the 2d Killing spinors on S^2 are also summarized in Appendix B. In this paper, we assume the Killing spinors ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ to be commuting spinors, and so are the 4d counter-parts Σ and $\tilde{\Sigma}$.

2.2 Vector Multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$

The $\mathcal{N}=1$ vector multiplet on Euclidean \mathbb{R}^4 consists of a gauge boson A_M , a spinor Ξ and a pseudo-scalar auxiliary field D, which are all in the adjoint representation of the gauge group. In the Euclidean signature, all the fields in the vector multiplet are complexified. The vector multiplet satisfies the following off-shell SUSY transformations on \mathbb{R}^4 [43]:

$$\delta A_{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\Upsilon}\,\Gamma_{M}\Xi\,,$$

$$\delta \Xi = \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{MN}F_{MN}\Upsilon + \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{5}D\Upsilon\,,$$

$$\delta D = \frac{i}{2}\bar{\Upsilon}\,\Gamma_{5}\Gamma^{M}D_{M}\Xi\,,$$
(2.14)

where

$$D_M \Xi \equiv \nabla_M \Xi + [A_M, \Xi]. \tag{2.15}$$

 Υ is the 4d SUSY transformation parameter satisfying the Killing spinor equation (2.8), and its Majorana conjugate is

$$\bar{\Upsilon} \equiv \Upsilon^T C_4 \tag{2.16}$$

with the 4d charge conjugation matrix C_4 . As discussed in e.g. Ref. [44], in the Euclidean spacetime a spinor and its complex conjugate or Hermitian conjugate are independent, and the spinors do not satisfy a reality condition. For a Majorana spinor in the Minkowski signature, one has to perform a careful Wick rotation to obtain a consistent theory in the Euclidean signature.

As we discussed before, we are interested in $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. By changing coordinates one can map the background $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ into $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. Hence, we can first construct $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, and then obtain the results in the original background $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ by a reverse change of coordinates.

Next, we consider the theory on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. We decompose the fields into the components along S^2 and the ones along \mathbb{R}^2 , and then rewrite the transformations (2.14) in terms of these components. Effectively, we will obtain a 2d gauge theory. This procedure shares

the same spirit of the papers [31, 32], which is different from the standard dimensional reduction. The difference is that for the dimensional reduction one assumes that the new fields have no dependence of some spacetime directions, while in [31, 32] they rewrite the original theory in terms of the lower-dimensional new fields keeping the dependence of the reduced dimensions. This procedure is compatible with our choice of the Killing spinors discussed in the previous subsection.

The original SUSY transformations (2.14) do not form a closed algebra on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. We have to modify the transformations (2.14) on \mathbb{R}^4 properly to obtain the following transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$:

$$\delta A_{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\Upsilon}\Gamma_{M}\Xi,$$

$$\delta \Xi = \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{MN}F_{MN}\Upsilon + \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{5}D\Upsilon + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma^{Ma}A_{a}D_{M}\Upsilon,$$

$$\delta D = \frac{i}{2}\bar{\Upsilon}\Gamma_{5}\Gamma^{M}D_{M}\Xi + \frac{i}{2}(D_{M}\Upsilon)^{T}C_{4}\Gamma_{5}\Gamma^{M}\Xi.$$
(2.17)

Assuming that Υ is a commuting spinor satisfying the 4d Killing spinor equation (2.8), we obtain the following relations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$:

$$\left\{\delta_{\Sigma_1},\,\delta_{\Sigma_2}\right\} = 0\,,\quad \left\{\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}_1},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}_2}\right\} = 0\,,$$
 (2.18)

and

$$\begin{aligned}
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\} A_{\mu} = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} A_{\mu} - D_{\mu} (\xi^{M} A_{M}) + (\partial_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}) A_{\nu} \,, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\} A_{a} = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} A_{a} + [\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, A_{a}] + \Theta_{a}{}^{b} A_{b} \,, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\} \Xi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} \Xi + [\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, \Xi] - \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} \Xi + \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{ab} \Gamma^{ab} \Xi \,, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\} D = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} D + [\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, D] \,,
\end{aligned} \tag{2.19}$$

where

$$\delta = \delta_{\Sigma} + \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \tag{2.20}$$

with δ_{Σ} and $\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}$ denoting the transformations generated by the supercharges Σ and $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ defined in Eq. (2.11) respectively, and consequently

$$\delta^2 = \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\},\tag{2.21}$$

while

$$\xi^M \equiv \frac{1}{4}\bar{\Upsilon}\Gamma^M\Upsilon, \quad \Theta_{MN} \equiv \frac{1}{4\ell}\bar{\Upsilon}\Gamma_{MN}\Gamma_5\Upsilon$$
 (2.22)

are the parameters of the translation and the Lorentz rotation respectively. From these relations we see that A_a behaves like a scalar field on S^2 but like a vector field on \mathbb{R}^2 , which is opposite for A_{μ} , while Ξ and D behave as a spinor and a scalar respectively both on S^2 and on \mathbb{R}^2 .

With our choice of the gamma matrices, we can also express $\delta^2\Xi$ into the following form:

$$\delta^2\Xi = \xi^M \partial_M \Xi + [\xi^M A_M, \Xi] - \frac{1}{4} \Theta^L_{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_R \Xi + \frac{1}{4} \Theta^R_{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_L \Xi + \frac{1}{4} \Theta^L_{ab} \Gamma^{ab} P_R \Xi - \frac{1}{4} \Theta^R_{ab} \Gamma^{ab} P_L \Xi,$$

$$(2.23)$$

where

$$\Theta_{MN}^{L} \equiv \frac{1}{4\ell} \bar{\Upsilon} \Gamma_{MN} P_{L} \Upsilon, \quad \Theta_{MN}^{R} \equiv \frac{1}{4\ell} \bar{\Upsilon} \Gamma_{MN} P_{R} \Upsilon.$$
(2.24)

Therefore,

$$\delta^{2} P_{L} \Xi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} (P_{L} \Xi) + [\xi^{M} A_{M}, P_{L} \Xi] + \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{\mu\nu}^{R} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_{L} \Xi - \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{ab}^{R} \Gamma^{ab} P_{L} \Xi,$$

$$\delta^{2} P_{R} \Xi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} (P_{R} \Xi) + [\xi^{M} A_{M}, P_{R} \Xi] - \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{\mu\nu}^{L} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} \Xi + \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{ab}^{L} \Gamma^{ab} P_{R} \Xi,$$
(2.25)

where P_L and P_R denote the 4d projection operators, which are given by

$$P_L \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{I} + \Gamma_5), \quad P_R \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{I} - \Gamma_5).$$
 (2.26)

In the above, we have constructed consistent SUSY transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ for the $\mathcal{N}=1$ vector multiplet. The transformations and the algebra can also be expressed in terms of the 2d fields explicitly, which in general also depend on the coordinates along \mathbb{R}^2 . However, if we assume that these 2d fields are independent of the coordinates along \mathbb{R}^2 , we obtain a 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry similar to the dimensional reduction procedure. We mention in the following some relevant results, and more details can be found in Appendix C.1.

We use the index μ to denote the coordinates along the S^2 -direction, and for the \mathbb{R}^2 -direction we define $z = x_3 + ix_4$ and $\bar{z} = x_3 - ix_4$. Then we can make the following decompositions of the fields:

$$A_M \to A_\mu \text{ with } \mu \in \{1, 2\}, \ A_z = \frac{1}{2}(A_3 - iA_4), \ A_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(A_3 + iA_4),$$

$$\Xi = \lambda \otimes \zeta_+ + \widetilde{\lambda} \otimes \zeta_-.$$
(2.27)

Consequently,

$$P_L \Xi = P_L \lambda \otimes \zeta_+ + P_R \widetilde{\lambda} \otimes \zeta_-, \quad P_R \Xi = P_R \lambda \otimes \zeta_+ + P_L \widetilde{\lambda} \otimes \zeta_-, \tag{2.28}$$

where P_L and P_R on the right-hand side are the 2d projection operators defined as

$$P_L \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{I} + \sigma_3), \quad P_R \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{I} - \sigma_3).$$
 (2.29)

We do not use different notations to distinguish the 4d and the 2d projection operators, which can be easily read off from the context.

Together with the decomposition of the 4d Killing spinor (2.11), we can also express various parameters appearing in the 4d algebra in terms of the 2d Killing spinors:

$$\Theta_{12} = \frac{i}{2\ell} \tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \epsilon, \quad \Theta_{34} = \frac{i}{2\ell} \tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \epsilon,
\Theta_{12}^L = \Theta_{34}^L = \frac{i}{2\ell} \tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_L \epsilon,
\Theta_{12}^R = -\Theta_{34}^R = -\frac{i}{2\ell} \tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_R \epsilon.$$
(2.30)

The Lorentz rotations from the square of the SUSY transformations become more transparent in terms of the 2d fields and the 2d parameters, so we express the supersymmetry algebra relations (2.19) on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ using the new fields and parameters as follows:

$$\begin{aligned}
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}A_{u} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}A_{u} - D_{u}\left(\xi^{M}A_{M}\right) + \alpha A_{u}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}A_{\bar{u}} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}A_{\bar{u}} - D_{\bar{u}}\left(\xi^{M}A_{M}\right) - \alpha A_{\bar{u}}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}A_{z} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}A_{z} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, A_{z}\right] + \rho A_{z}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}A_{\bar{z}} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}A_{\bar{z}} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, A_{\bar{z}}\right] - \rho A_{\bar{z}}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}P_{L}\lambda = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{L}\lambda + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\lambda\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\lambda, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}P_{R}\widetilde{\lambda} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{R}\widetilde{\lambda} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\widetilde{\lambda}\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\widetilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\widetilde{\lambda}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}P_{R}\lambda = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{R}\lambda + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\lambda\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\lambda, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}P_{L}\widetilde{\lambda} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{L}\widetilde{\lambda} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\widetilde{\lambda}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\widetilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\widetilde{\lambda}, \\
&\{\delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\}D = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}D + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, D\right],
\end{aligned} \tag{2.31}$$

where

$$A_{u} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(A_{1} - iA_{2}), \quad A_{\bar{u}} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(A_{1} + iA_{2}),$$

$$D_{u} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(D_{1} - iD_{2}), \quad D_{\bar{u}} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(D_{1} + iD_{2}),$$
(2.32)

and

$$\alpha \equiv -i\Theta_{12} = \frac{1}{2\ell} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \epsilon), \quad \rho \equiv i\Theta_{34} = -\frac{1}{2\ell} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \epsilon)$$
 (2.33)

play the role of the rotation parameters on S^2 and on \mathbb{R}^2 respectively.

From the relations above, we can clearly see the spins of various fields on S^2 and \mathbb{R}^2 . To summarize, for the vector multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ we find that the SUSY transformations satisfy

$$\delta^2 = \xi^M \tilde{\partial}_M + \xi^M A_M + \alpha J_s^u + \rho J_s^z, \qquad (2.34)$$

where J_s^u and J_s^z denote the spins of the field on S^2 and \mathbb{R}^2 respectively. The square of the supersymmetry generates a Lorentz transformation, a gauge transformation, a vector R-rotation by ρ and an axial R-rotation by α . As we will see later, it takes this universal form for all fields.

2.3 Gauged (Anti-)Chiral Multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$

The gauged chiral multiplet on Euclidean \mathbb{R}^4 consists of a complex scalar Φ , a left-projected spinor $P_L\Psi$ and a complex auxiliary field F, while the gauged anti-chiral multiplet includes a complex scalar $\bar{\Phi}$, a right-projected spinor $P_R\Psi$ and a complex auxiliary field \bar{F} . In the Euclidean signature, all the fields in the gauged (anti-)chiral multiplet are complexified.

They have the following SUSY transformations on \mathbb{R}^4 [43]:

$$\delta\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\Upsilon}P_L\Psi\,,$$

$$\delta P_L\Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}P_L(\Gamma^M D_M \Phi + F)\Upsilon\,,$$

$$\delta F = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\Upsilon}P_R\Gamma^M D_M \Psi - \bar{\Upsilon}P_R \Xi\Phi\,,$$
(2.35)

and

$$\delta \bar{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\Upsilon} P_R \Psi ,$$

$$\delta P_R \Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} P_R (\Gamma^M D_M \bar{\Phi} + \bar{F}) \Upsilon ,$$

$$\delta \bar{F} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\Upsilon} P_L \Gamma^M D_M \Psi - \bar{\Upsilon} P_L \Xi \bar{\Phi} .$$
(2.36)

The modified transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ are

$$\delta\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\Upsilon}P_L\Psi\,,$$

$$\delta P_L\Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}P_L(\Gamma^M D_M \Phi + F)\Upsilon + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}}(P_L\Gamma^M D_M \Upsilon)\Phi\,,$$

$$\delta F = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\Upsilon}P_R\Gamma^M D_M \Psi - \bar{\Upsilon}P_R\Xi\Phi + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}}(D_M\Upsilon)^T C_4 P_R\Gamma^M\Psi\,,$$
(2.37)

and for the gauged anti-chiral multiplet $(\bar{\Phi}, P_R\Psi, \bar{F})$:

$$\delta \bar{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\Upsilon} P_R \Psi ,$$

$$\delta P_R \Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} P_R (\Gamma^M D_M \bar{\Phi} + \bar{F}) \Upsilon + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \Gamma^M D_M \Upsilon) \bar{\Phi} ,$$

$$\delta \bar{F} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\Upsilon} P_L \Gamma^M D_M \Psi - \bar{\Upsilon} P_L \Xi \bar{\Phi} + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (D_M \Upsilon)^T C_4 P_L \Gamma^M \Psi .$$
(2.38)

Assuming that Υ is a commuting spinor satisfying the 4d Killing spinor equation (2.8), we find that these modified transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ satisfy the following relations:

$$\left\{\delta_{\Sigma_1},\,\delta_{\Sigma_2}\right\} = 0\,,\quad \left\{\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}_1},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}_2}\right\} = 0\,,$$
 (2.39)

and

$$\begin{split} & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} \Phi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} \Phi + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, \Phi \right], \\ & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} P_{L} \Psi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} (P_{L} \Psi) + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, P_{L} \Psi \right] + \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{\mu\nu}^{R} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_{L} \Psi - \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{ab}^{R} \Gamma^{ab} P_{L} \Psi, \\ & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} F = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} F + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, F \right], \\ & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} \bar{\Phi} = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} \bar{\Phi} + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, \bar{\Phi} \right], \\ & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} P_{R} \Psi = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} (P_{R} \Psi) + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, P_{R} \Psi \right] - \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{\mu\nu}^{L} \Gamma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} \Psi + \frac{1}{4} \Theta_{ab}^{L} \Gamma^{ab} P_{R} \Psi, \\ & \left\{ \delta_{\Sigma}, \, \delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}} \right\} \bar{F} = \xi^{M} \partial_{M} \bar{F} + \left[\xi^{M} A_{M}, \, \bar{F} \right]. \end{split}$$

From these relations we see that $P_L\Psi$ and $P_R\Psi$ behave as spinors both on S^2 and on \mathbb{R}^2 , while Φ , $\bar{\Phi}$, F and \bar{F} transform as scalars both on S^2 and on \mathbb{R}^2 .

In the above, we have constructed consistent SUSY transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ for the (anti-)chiral multiplet. Like the vector multiplet, the transformations and the algebra for the (anti-)chiral multiplet can also be expressed in terms of the 2d fields explicitly, which in general also depend on the coordinates along \mathbb{R}^2 . If we assume that these 2d fields are independent of the coordinates along \mathbb{R}^2 , we obtain a 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ supersymmetry similar to the dimensional reduction procedure. Besides some relevant results mentioned in the following, more details can be found in Appendix C.2.

Like for the vector multiplet, we decompose the 4d fields into the 2d fields:

$$\Phi \to \phi \,, \quad \bar{\Phi} \to \bar{\phi} \,, \quad F \to F \,, \quad \bar{F} \to \bar{F} \,,$$

$$P_L \Psi = P_L \psi \otimes \zeta_+ + P_R \widetilde{\psi} \otimes \zeta_- \,, \quad P_R \Psi = P_R \psi \otimes \zeta_+ + P_L \widetilde{\psi} \otimes \zeta_- \,.$$
(2.41)

Based on our choice of the gamma matrices and the previously defined parameters, we can express the SUSY algebra relations (2.40) on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ in terms of the 2d fields and parameters as follows:

$$\begin{split} & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}\phi = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}\phi + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,\phi\right],\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}P_{L}\psi = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{L}\psi + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,P_{L}\psi\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\psi\,,\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,P_{R}\widetilde{\psi}\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\widetilde{\psi}\,,\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}F = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}F + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,F\right],\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}\bar{\phi} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}\bar{\phi} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,\bar{\phi}\right],\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}P_{R}\psi = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{R}\psi + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,P_{R}\psi\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\psi\,,\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,P_{L}\widetilde{\psi}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\widetilde{\psi}\,,\\ & \left\{\delta_{\Sigma},\,\delta_{\widetilde{\Sigma}}\right\}\bar{F} = \xi^{M}\partial_{M}\bar{F} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M},\,\bar{F}\right]. \end{split} \tag{2.42}$$

From the relations above, we summarize that the SUSY transformations for the (anti-)chiral multiplets also satisfy (2.34).

2.4 Supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$

In the previous subsections, we have constructed the SUSY transformations for the vector multiplet and the gauged (anti-)chiral multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. To obtain the SUSY transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, we have to apply an inverse change of coordinates due to Eq. (2.4).

First, we choose the Killing spinors ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ on S^2 part of $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ to be

$$\epsilon = (\mathbb{I} + i\sigma_3)e^{-i\tilde{\varphi}/2} \begin{pmatrix} \sin\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{2} \\ -i\cos\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\epsilon} = (\mathbb{I} + i\sigma_3)e^{i\tilde{\varphi}/2} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{2} \\ -i\sin\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.43)$$

which are specific solutions to the Killing spinor equations (2.13) on S^2 [33, 34]. We make this choice, because ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ will have definite chirality at the poles of S^2 .

With these Killing spinors, we obtain the explicit expression of the Killing vector ξ^M :

$$\xi^1 = 0, \quad \xi^2 = -\sin\tilde{\theta}, \quad \xi^3 = i\cos\tilde{\varphi}\sin\tilde{\theta}, \quad \xi^4 = i\sin\tilde{\varphi}\sin\tilde{\theta}.$$
 (2.44)

Hence, using the inverse vielbeins obtained from the vielbeins (2.6), we can express the Killing vector in the coordinates $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\varphi}, z, \bar{z})$ as follows:

$$\xi^{M}\tilde{\partial}_{M} = -\frac{1}{\ell}\partial_{\tilde{\varphi}} + i\cos\tilde{\varphi}\sin\tilde{\theta}(\partial_{z} + \partial_{\bar{z}}) - \sin\tilde{\varphi}\sin\tilde{\theta}(\partial_{z} - \partial_{\bar{z}}). \tag{2.45}$$

After changing the coordinates $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\varphi}, z, \bar{z})$ to $(\theta, \varphi, w, \bar{w})$ as discussed in Subsection 2.1, the background $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ becomes $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. The SUSY algebra on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ formally remains the same as (2.34), but there are a few changes.

First, the Killing spinors (2.43) on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ are no longer solutions to the Killing spinor equations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, unless we turn on a background gauge field to cancel the ω^{34} and the ω^{43} components of the spin connection (2.3).

$$D_{M}\Sigma = \left(\partial_{M} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{M}^{PQ}\Gamma_{PQ} - iV_{M}\right)\Sigma, \quad D_{M}\widetilde{\Sigma} = \left(\partial_{M} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{M}^{PQ}\Gamma_{PQ} + iV_{M}\right)\widetilde{\Sigma}, \quad (2.46)$$

where we have introduced a background gauge field

$$V_M dx^M = \frac{1}{2} \omega_M^{34} dx^M = \frac{1}{2} \ell \varepsilon d\varphi.$$
 (2.47)

In Eqs. (2.46), the opposite signs in front of V_M is due to the fact that $\Gamma_{34} = \mathbb{I} \otimes i\sigma_3$ acting on $\Sigma = \epsilon \otimes \zeta_+$ and $\widetilde{\Sigma} = \widetilde{\epsilon} \otimes \zeta_-$ has opposite eigenvalues. We will interpret V_M as the background gauge field for the R-symmetry, and correspondingly the Killing spinors Σ and $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ have opposite R-charges. For the physical fields in the theory, their R-charges turn out to be a combination of the standard R-charges with their spins on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. In terms of the 2d field components (2.11)(2.27)(2.41), we found a consistent R-charge assignment given in Table 1. Introducing the background field V_M can be viewed as a partial topological twist on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$.

Table 1. R-charge Assignments for the 2-Component Fields

Second, in the coordinates $(\theta, \varphi, w, \bar{w})$, instead of (2.45) now $\xi^M \partial_M$ is given by

$$\xi^{M} \partial_{M} = -\frac{1}{\ell} \partial_{\varphi} - i\varepsilon (w \partial_{w} - \bar{w} \partial_{\bar{w}}) + i\cos\varphi \sin\theta (\partial_{w} + \partial_{\bar{w}}) - \sin\varphi \sin\theta (\partial_{w} - \partial_{\bar{w}}). \quad (2.48)$$

Note that ∂_{φ} generates the U(1) rotation on S^2 , and $(w\partial_w - \bar{w}\partial_{\bar{w}})$ generates the U(1) rotation on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. The Killing vector has two fixed points located at the north pole $(\theta = 0)$ and at the south pole $(\theta = \pi)$ on S^2 , and both of them are located at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ at the same time. We would like to highlight that the expression (2.48) is one of the main results of this paper, which is crucial to perform the localization for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ gauge theories.

Moreover, besides the background gauge field V_M corresponding to the R-symmetry, we can introduce another background gauge field \widetilde{A}_M^I corresponding to the flavor symmetry:

$$\widetilde{A}_M^I dx^M = -\ell \, m_I d\varphi \,, \tag{2.49}$$

where the index $I \in \{1, \dots, \operatorname{rank}(G_{\mathcal{F}})\}$. For a fixed I, \widetilde{A}_M^I is in general a complex background gauge field for a U(1) subgroup in the Cartan of the flavor symmetry $G_{\mathcal{F}}$. The complex background gauge field has appeared in the literature before, in particular, the 3d case has been studied in Ref. [45] in great detail. We denote the complex parameters m_I as the twisted masses.

Up to now we have used anti-Hermitian generators for the Lie algebra. In order to be consistent with the literature, we will use the Hermitian generators in the following of this paper, which can be obtained by simply replacing the gauge field A_M with iA_M and similar for other background gauge fields. Hence, we can define a parameter Λ to denote the gauge transformation:

$$\Lambda \equiv i\xi^M A_M \,, \tag{2.50}$$

which will appear in the SUSY algebra relation (2.34) from now on.

The full covariant derivative acting on the fields should include the connections of the background gauge fields V_M and \widetilde{A}_M^I . For instance, the full covariant derivative acting on the spinor in the chiral multiplet is

$$D_M \Psi^I = \left(\nabla_M + iA_M + iRV_M + i\mathcal{F}_I \widetilde{A}_M^I \right) \Psi^I. \tag{2.51}$$

Correspondingly, the full SUSY algebra on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ becomes

$$\delta^2 = \xi^M \partial_M + \Lambda + \alpha J_s^u + \rho J_s^w + iR \, \xi^M V_M + i \mathcal{F}_I \, \xi^M \widetilde{A}_M^I \,, \tag{2.52}$$

where R and \mathcal{F}_I denote the R-charge and the I-th flavor charge respectively, while the explicit expression of $\xi^M \partial_M$ is given by Eq. (2.48). We can use the explicit expressions of the Killing spinors (2.43) to compute the parameters:

$$\alpha = -\frac{i}{\ell}\cos\theta \,, \quad \rho = -\frac{i}{\ell} \,.$$
 (2.53)

A careful analysis shows that the R-charge assignments listed in Table 1 can be separated into the q-dependent part R_1 and the q-independent part R_2 . On the one hand, the q-independent R-charges R_2 are proportional to the spins in $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, more precisely,

$$R_2 = -2J_s^w. (2.54)$$

On the other hand, due to the fact that the two background gauge fields V_M and \widetilde{A}_M^I are proportional to each other, the q-dependent R-charges R_1 can be absorbed into the twisted masses, which means that for $\mathcal{F}_I \neq 0$ we can define new twisted masses \widetilde{m}_I as

$$\widetilde{m}_I \equiv m_I - \frac{\varepsilon R_1}{2\mathcal{F}_I} \,. \tag{2.55}$$

In the following, we choose $\mathcal{F}_I = 1$ for flavors in the fundamental representation, while $\mathcal{F}_I = 0$ for the adjoint representation. Hence, in the presence of fundamental chiral multiplets the spins on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, i.e. J^w_s , do not need to show up in the SUSY algebra. In principle, the R-charges can be affected by the superpotential. In this paper, we do not consider superpotential for simplicity, and we will set q = 0 in the following. Using the explicit expressions of α , ρ , V_M and \widetilde{A}^I_M , we can now express the SUSY algebra (2.52) as

$$\delta^2 = \xi^M \partial_M + \Lambda - \frac{i}{\ell} \cos\theta J_s^u - \frac{i}{2} (\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell}) R_2 + i \mathcal{F}_I \widetilde{m}_I.$$
 (2.56)

So far we have constructed a 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ background explicitly. It would be nice to obtain it in a more systematic way, similar to the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ backgrounds from supergravity models [8–10] or the 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ Ω -background introduced in [2, 46, 47]. However, as discussed before it is crucial for our purpose to have a non-covariant expression (2.8) of the Killing spinor equation, which does not fit into the framework of the $\mathcal{N}=1$ backgrounds from supergravity models. Hence, we provide an explicit example beyond the class from supergravity. Whether this example belongs to a larger class and can be obtained more systematically, requires further studies in the future.

Finally in this section, let us make some comments on the global anomalies of the theory, similar to the analysis in [12]. The U(1) flavor symmetries and the U(1) R-symmetry can potentially have some cubic and mixed anomalies with the following coefficients:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Q_R^3) = R^3, \quad \operatorname{Tr}(Q_F^3) = \mathcal{F}^3, \quad \operatorname{Tr}(Q_R) = R, \quad \operatorname{Tr}(Q_F) = \mathcal{F},$$
 (2.57)

as well as $\text{Tr}(Q_R^2 Q_F)$ and $\text{Tr}(Q_F^2 Q_R)$. The violation of the classical conservation laws are given by these anomaly coefficients and the topological densities:

$$\mathcal{P}^{(F)} = \epsilon^{MNPQ} \widetilde{F}_{MN} \widetilde{F}_{PQ} , \quad \mathcal{P}^{(R)} = \epsilon^{MNPQ} F_{MN}^R F_{PQ}^R , \quad \mathcal{P}^{(g)} = \epsilon^{MNPQ} R_{MNRS} R_{PQ}^{RS} ,$$
(2.58)

where \widetilde{F}_{MN} and F_{MN}^R are the field strengths of the U(1) flavor symmetry and the U(1) R-symmetry respectively. Using the background gauge fields V_M (2.47) and \widetilde{A}_M^I (2.49), one can find by direct computations:

$$\widetilde{F}_{MN} = 0 = F_{MN}^R. (2.59)$$

Hence, the topological densities $\mathcal{P}^{(F)}$ and $\mathcal{P}^{(R)}$ vanish. Similarly, one can show by direct computation that the topological density $\mathcal{P}^{(g)}$ also vanishes on the curved space $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. Hence, all the U(1) flavor symmetry and U(1) R-symmetry currents are conserved. Therefore, we do not need to worry about the global anomalies for the gauge theories constructed on the background discussed in this paper.

3 Supersymmetric Action

3.1 δ -Exact Action and BPS Equations

To localize the $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric theories on $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, we should introduce a δ -exact term to deform the original theory, which is obtained by generalizing the standard $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory on \mathbb{R}^4 to $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2$ and is also δ -exact. Hence, the original theory together with the deformation can be written into a δ -exact form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}} = \delta \mathcal{V}$$
, (3.1)

which consists of several parts:

$$V = V_{\text{gauge}} + V_{\text{chiral}} + V_H. \tag{3.2}$$

Following the standard approach, we can choose

$$\mathcal{V}_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^2} \text{Tr} \left[(\delta \Xi)^{\dagger} \Xi \right] ,$$

$$\mathcal{V}_{\text{chiral}} = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\delta P_L \Psi)^{\dagger} P_L \Psi + (\delta P_R \Psi)^{\dagger} P_R \Psi \right] ,$$

$$\mathcal{V}_H = \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \left[\left(\Sigma^{\dagger} \Gamma_5 \Xi + \Xi^{\dagger} \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} \right) H(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) \right] ,$$
(3.3)

where $H(\Phi, \bar{\Phi})$ is a real function of Φ and $\bar{\Phi}$, and the dagger (†) denotes the Hermitian conjugate. We emphasize that although similar to [23, 33, 35] this particular form of \mathcal{V}_H with the insertion of the Γ_5 -matrix as well as the separation of the supercharges Σ and $\tilde{\Sigma}$ is carefully chosen and has not appeared in the literature before. Moreover, we choose $H(\Phi, \bar{\Phi})$ to be

$$H(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) = (\bar{\Phi}^I \Phi^I - \eta), \qquad (3.4)$$

with the index I denoting the flavor, and η is the Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) parameter, which controls the size of the (anti-)vortices that will be discussed later in this section. The standard $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory on \mathbb{R}^4 can be recovered from the flat-space limit of $(\delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{gauge}} + \delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{chiral}})$.

Based on the constructions above, the bosonic part of the δ -exact Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^{b} = (\delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{gauge}})^{b} + (\delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{chiral}})^{b} + (\delta \mathcal{V}_{H})^{b}, \qquad (3.5)$$

where

$$(\delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{gauge}})^{b} = \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \text{Tr} \left[(\delta \Xi)^{\dagger} (\delta \Xi) \right] ,$$

$$(\delta \mathcal{V}_{\text{chiral}})^{b} = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\delta P_{L} \Psi)^{\dagger} (\delta P_{L} \Psi) + (\delta P_{R} \Psi)^{\dagger} (\delta P_{R} \Psi) \right] ,$$

$$(\delta \mathcal{V}_{H})^{b} = \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \left[\left(\Sigma^{\dagger} \Gamma_{5} (\delta \Xi) + (\delta \Xi)^{\dagger} \Gamma_{5} \widetilde{\Sigma} \right) (\bar{\Phi}^{I} \Phi^{I} - \eta) \right] .$$

$$(3.6)$$

Using the choice of the Killing spinors (2.43), one can work out the explicit expressions of these terms. Meanwhile, one needs some identities of the Killing spinors (2.43), which are summarized in Appendix D.

For simplicity, we first focus on an Abelian gauge theory, and the non-Abelian generalization will be discussed in Subsection 3.4. Because the fermionic part $\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^f$ is irrelevant for our later discussions, we only list the explicit expressions of the bosonic part $\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^b$ in the following:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^{b} = \frac{1}{4g_{YM}^{2}} F^{MN} F_{MN} - \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} D^{2} + \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2} \ell^{2}} (A_{3}^{2} + A_{4}^{2}) + \frac{1}{g_{YM}^{2} \ell} \sin \theta \left(F_{23} A_{4} - F_{24} A_{3} \right)$$

$$- \frac{1}{8g_{YM}^{2}} \cos \theta \epsilon^{MN} P_{Q} F_{MN} F^{PQ} - (F_{12} - \cos \theta F_{34} + D) (|\Phi^{I}|^{2} - \eta)$$

$$+ (D^{M} \Phi^{I})^{\dagger} (D_{M} \Phi^{I}) + \left(F^{I} - \frac{q}{\ell} \cos \theta \Phi^{I} \right)^{\dagger} \left(F^{I} - \frac{q}{\ell} \cos \theta \Phi^{I} \right) + \frac{q^{2} \sin^{2} \theta}{\ell^{2}} (\Phi^{I})^{\dagger} \Phi^{I} ,$$

$$(3.7)$$

where to obtain a positive semi-definite action we have assumed that D is an anti-hermitian field, and we have imposed the following reality conditions:

$$\bar{\Phi}^I = (\Phi^I)^{\dagger}, \quad \bar{F}^I = (F^I)^{\dagger}. \tag{3.8}$$

By integrating out the auxiliary fields D and F, we see that $\mathscr{L}_{\text{exact}}^b$ can be written as a sum of several squared terms:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^{b} = \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \left(F_{12} - \cos\theta \, F_{34} - g_{YM}^{2} (|\Phi^{I}|^{2} - \eta) \right)^{2} + \frac{\sin^{2}\theta}{2g_{YM}^{2}} (F_{34})^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \left(F_{13} + \cos\theta \, F_{24} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \left(\sin\theta \, F_{24} - \frac{1}{\ell} A_{3} \right)^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \left(F_{14} - \cos\theta \, F_{23} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2g_{YM}^{2}} \left(\sin\theta \, F_{23} + \frac{1}{\ell} A_{4} \right)^{2}$$

$$+ \left(D^{\bar{u}} \Phi^{I} \right)^{\dagger} (D_{\bar{u}} \Phi^{I}) + \left(D^{\bar{w}} \Phi^{I} \right)^{\dagger} (D_{\bar{w}} \Phi^{I}) + \frac{q^{2} \sin^{2}\theta}{\ell^{2}} (\Phi^{I})^{\dagger} \Phi^{I} , \qquad (3.9)$$

where

$$D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^{I} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(D_3 + iD_4)\Phi^{I}. \tag{3.10}$$

In fact, the term $(D^{\bar{w}}\Phi^I)^{\dagger}(D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^I)$ in $\mathcal{L}_{\text{exact}}^b$ can be replaced by $(D^w\Phi^I)^{\dagger}(D_w\Phi^I)$, and they differ by a total derivative term. Therefore, for q=0 we obtain the BPS equations by setting each squared term to be zero:

$$F_{12} - \cos\theta \, F_{34} - g_{YM}^2(|\Phi^I|^2 - \eta) = 0, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{34} = 0,$$
 (3.11)

$$F_{13} + \cos\theta \, F_{24} = 0 \,, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{24} - \frac{1}{\ell} A_3 = 0 \,,$$
 (3.12)

$$F_{14} - \cos\theta \, F_{23} = 0 \,, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{23} + \frac{1}{\ell} A_4 = 0 \,,$$
 (3.13)

$$D_{\bar{u}}\Phi^I = 0$$
, $(D_w\Phi^I = 0 \text{ or } D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^I = 0)$, (3.14)

where for the last equation we have two choices, which correspond to anti-vortex and vortex solutions respectively, as we will see in the next subsection. Note that in the flat-space limit $(\ell \to \infty)$ and near the poles, the system of equations reduce to the instanton-vortex equations first found by [28] and extensively studied in [48]. The classical solutions to these BPS equations will be discussed in the next subsection.

3.2 Classical Solutions

In this subsection, we discuss the classical solutions to the BPS equations (3.11) \sim (3.14). First, the second equation of (3.11) leads to

$$F_{34} = 0 \quad \text{for } 0 < \theta < \pi \,.$$
 (3.15)

Assuming that A_1 and A_2 are independent of (w, \bar{w}) , Eq. (3.12) and Eq. (3.13) imply

$$\frac{1}{\ell} \partial_{\theta} A_3 = -\frac{1}{\ell} \cot \theta A_3, \quad \frac{1}{\ell} \partial_{\theta} A_4 = -\frac{1}{\ell} \cot \theta A_4, \tag{3.16}$$

which can be solved by

$$A_3 = \frac{f_1(\varphi) g_1(w, \bar{w})}{\sin \theta}, \quad A_4 = \frac{f_2(\varphi) g_2(w, \bar{w})}{\sin \theta},$$
 (3.17)

with arbitrary functions $f_{1,2}(\varphi)$ and $g_{1,2}(w, \bar{w})$. The consistency of F_{23} and F_{24} requires

$$f_1(\varphi) = f_2'(\varphi), \quad f_1'(\varphi) = -f_2(\varphi), \quad g_1(w, \bar{w}) = g_2(w, \bar{w}),$$
 (3.18)

which can be solved by

$$f_1(\varphi) = C_1 \cos \varphi - C_2 \sin \varphi, \quad f_2(\varphi) = C_2 \cos \varphi + C_1 \sin \varphi,$$
 (3.19)

where C_1 and C_2 are constants. However, if we require A_3 and A_4 to be regular for $\theta \in [0, \pi]$, there are only the trivial solution

$$A_w = A_{\bar{w}} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad A_3 = A_4 = 0 \quad \text{for } 0 < \theta < \pi \,. \tag{3.20}$$

Consequently, the regular solutions also imply that

$$F_{34} = 0 \quad \text{for } 0 \le \theta \le \pi \,.$$
 (3.21)

For the non-Abelian case, there can also be non-trivial solutions for A_3 and A_4 , but if we restrict to continuous and regular configurations, Eq. (3.21) still holds. We cannot, at present, rule out the existence of singular solutions such as a point-like instanton to our BPS equation. If such solutions exist, they should also contribute to the partition function.

With trivial solutions for A_3 and A_4 , the BPS equations reduce to the vortex equation

$$F_{12} - g_{YM}^2(|\Phi^I|^2 - \eta) = 0. (3.22)$$

This one is the most important BPS equation, we will analyze it carefully in the following.

The vortex equation admits the so-called Higgs branch solutions

$$F_{12} = 0$$
, Φ^I are constants with $|\Phi^I| = \sqrt{\eta}$. (3.23)

In this background, the equation $D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^I=0$ is automatically satisfied. Then in the gauge $A_{\theta}=0$, we can solve the equation $D_{\bar{u}}\Phi^I=0$, which can be written more explicitly as

$$\left[\frac{1}{\ell}\partial_{\theta} + \frac{i}{\ell\sin\theta}(\partial_{\varphi} + iA_{\varphi} + i\widetilde{A}_{\varphi}^{I}) - \frac{\varepsilon}{\sin\theta}w\partial_{w} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\sin\theta}\bar{w}\partial_{\bar{w}}\right]\Phi^{I} = 0.$$
 (3.24)

For constant Φ^I , the solution to this equation is

$$A_{\varphi} = -\widetilde{A}_{\varphi}^{I} = \ell \, \widetilde{m}_{I} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

The Higgs branch solutions described above are valid for $0 \le \theta \le \pi$, including the poles of S^2 .

With the solution (3.20), the equation $D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^I=0$ implies that Φ^I are holomorphic functions of w. For the k-vortex configuration in the I-th flavor on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, Φ^I can be chosen to be

$$\Phi^{I} = f(\theta, \varphi) w^{k}, \quad \Phi^{J} = 0 \text{ for } J \neq I,$$
(3.26)

where $f(\theta, \varphi)$ is a factor depending on the coordinates on S^2 . Similarly, the equation $D_w \Phi^I = 0$ implies that Φ^I are anti-holomorphic functions of \bar{w} . For the k'-anti-vortex configuration in the I-th flavor on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, Φ^I can be chosen to be

$$\Phi^{I} = f(\theta, \varphi) \, \bar{w}^{k'}, \quad \Phi^{J} = 0 \text{ for } J \neq I.$$
(3.27)

Besides the Higgs branch solutions, Eq. (3.22) also has infinite towers of vortex solutions located at the poles of S^2 , which is a common feature for Higgs branch localization on the spheres [33–38]. The new phenomenon in our case is that from the $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ point of view all these vortices are also located at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ at the same time.

We first consider the vortex solution throughout the whole S^2 , and list its asymptotic behaviors at different points in the following. In principle, we can also consider the antivortex solution throughout S^2 , but for the partition function this configuration effectively corresponds to flipping the signs of the equivariant parameters.

• $\theta \approx 0$ (near the core of the vortex at the north pole):

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq (\theta e^{i\varphi})^{m} w^{k}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - k \ell \varepsilon \quad (k \ge 0);$$
(3.28)

• $\theta \approx \pi$ (near the core of the anti-vortex at the south pole):

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq (\hat{\theta} e^{i\varphi})^{n} w^{k'}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - k' \ell \varepsilon \quad (k' \ge 0);$$
(3.29)

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the northern hemisphere far from the core of the vortex):

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{im\varphi} w^{k}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - m - k\ell \varepsilon \quad (k \ge 0);$$
(3.30)

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the southern hemisphere far from the core of the anti-vortex):

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{in\varphi} w^{k'}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - n - k' \ell \varepsilon \quad (k' \ge 0),$$
(3.31)

where $\hat{\theta} \equiv \pi - \theta$, and the continuity of Φ^I at the equator will impose

$$k = k'. (3.32)$$

The integers m, n, k = k' denote the numbers of vortices at the north pole of S^2 , vortices at the south pole of S^2 , vortices at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ respectively.

In principle there can also be a configuration with a vortex solution (3.26) at the north pole and an anti-vortex solution (3.27) at the south pole, or vice versa. More details of these solutions can be found in Appendix D. Gluing the solutions from the north and the south patches of S^2 together, the continuity of Φ^I at the equator will exclude all the non-trivial configurations.

From these asymptotic solutions we can compute the fluxes through the northern and the southern hemispheres respectively:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}F_N = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\text{north}} d\theta d\varphi F_{\theta\varphi} = A_{\varphi} \Big|_{\theta=0}^{\pi/2} = -m,
\frac{1}{2\pi}F_S = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\text{conth}} d\theta d\varphi F_{\theta\varphi} = A_{\varphi} \Big|_{\theta=\pi/2}^{\pi} = n.$$
(3.33)

Therefore, the total flux through S^2 is

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}F_{S^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi}(F_N + F_S) = n - m.$$
(3.34)

3.3 δ -Closed Action

Besides the δ -exact action discussed in Subsection 3.1, we can also introduce some δ -closed terms.

As discussed in Appendix C, under certain assumptions the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory that we consider in this paper can also be formulated in terms of the 2d fields. Hence, similar to Ref. [23], we can construct a δ -closed term from a twisted superpotential in the 2d superspace:

$$S_{\widetilde{W}} = \frac{2}{V_{\mathbb{R}^2}} \int d^2 w \int d^2 w \, d\bar{\theta} \, d\theta \, \widetilde{W} \,, \tag{3.35}$$

where $V_{\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}}$ is the equivariant volume of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, and

$$\widetilde{W} = i\tau_0 \Sigma \,, \tag{3.36}$$

$$\Sigma = \sigma + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_u \theta_{\bar{u}} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{\lambda}_{\bar{u}}\bar{\theta}_u + iF_{u\bar{u}}\theta_{\bar{u}}\bar{\theta}_u.$$
(3.37)

Hence, at the classical vortex solutions discussed in the previous subsection $S_{\widetilde{W}}$ takes the value:

$$S_{\widetilde{W}} = 2 \int d^2 u \, d\bar{\theta} \, d\theta \, i\tau_0 \Sigma = -i\tau_0 \int d\theta \, d\varphi \, F_{\theta\varphi} = 2i\pi\tau_0(m-n) \,, \tag{3.38}$$

where

$$\tau_0 = \frac{\vartheta}{2\pi} + ir_{2d}, \qquad (3.39)$$

with ϑ and r_{2d} denoting the theta angle and the 2d FI parameter respectively. This 2d coupling can be lifted to a 4d coupling by taking into account the volume factor of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ via Eq. (3.35), and consequently r_{2d} can be related to the 4d gauge coupling:

$$\tau_0 = \frac{\vartheta}{2\pi} + \frac{4\pi i}{g_{YM}^2} \,. \tag{3.40}$$

In the following, we will apply this expression to the δ -closed action (3.38).

Besides the δ -closed term from the twisted superpotential discussed above, in principle we can also introduce δ -closed terms from the superpotential as follows:

$$S_W = \int d^4x \, d^2\theta \, W + \int d^4x \, d^2\bar{\theta} \, \overline{W} \,. \tag{3.41}$$

Since these terms are also δ -exact, as long as they do not change the charge assignments of the fields, they will not affect the result of the localization. In this paper, for simplicity we will not consider the terms from the superpotential.

3.4 Non-Abelian Generalization

In Subsections 3.1 and 3.2, we have discussed the Abelian gauge theory and its classical solutions. In order to discuss some non-perturbative effects, we have to generalize the theory to the non-Abelian case.

Consider a theory with gauge group G of rank r on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. It has N_F chiral multiplets, whose representations under the gauge group are $\bigotimes_{I=1}^{N_F} \mathfrak{R}^I$.

Now, we should solve the non-Abelian version of the previously discussed Abelian BPS equations $(3.11) \sim (3.14)$. The non-Abelian BPS equations are as follows:

$$F_{12}^{\alpha} - \cos\theta \, F_{34}^{\alpha} - g_{YM}^{2} \left((\Phi^{I})^{\dagger} T_{\Re^{I}}^{\alpha} \Phi^{I} - \eta \right) = 0 \,, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{34}^{\alpha} = 0 \,,$$

$$F_{13}^{\alpha} + \cos\theta \, F_{24}^{\alpha} = 0 \,, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{24}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{\ell} A_{3}^{\alpha} = 0 \,,$$

$$F_{14}^{\alpha} - \cos\theta \, F_{23}^{\alpha} = 0 \,, \quad \sin\theta \, F_{23}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\ell} A_{4}^{\alpha} = 0 \,,$$

$$D_{\bar{u}} \Phi^{I} = 0 \,, \quad (D_{w} \Phi^{I} = 0 \text{ or } D_{\bar{w}} \Phi^{I} = 0) \,,$$

$$(3.42)$$

where $\alpha \in \{1, \dots, \dim(G)\}$, and $T_{\Re^I}^{\alpha}$ denotes the generator of the Lie group G in the representation \Re^I , while η is the FI parameter which is nonvanishing only for the U(1) part of the gauge group. Although most of the equations above formally look the same as their Abelian counter-parts, the Lie group structure is implied for the non-Abelian generalization.

Before discussing the non-Abelian solutions, let us make a short note on the indices. We use (I_1, I_2, \dots, I_r) , $(\vec{\mu}_1, \vec{\mu}_2, \dots, \vec{\mu}_r)$ and (k_1, k_2, \dots, k_r) to denote the flavor indices, the weight vectors and the (anti-)vortex numbers at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ corresponding to different Cartan generators of the gauge group, which are labelled by the index $i \in \{1, \dots, r\}$. For a fixed $i, \vec{\mu}_i \in \mathfrak{R}^{I_i}$ denotes the r-dimensional weight vector of the representation \mathfrak{R}^{I_i} .

The classical solutions to the non-Abelian BPS equations can be obtained similar to the Abelian solutions discussed in Subsection 3.2. We list them in the following. First, due to the regularity of the classical gauge fields we still have for the non-Abelian case:

$$A_3^{\alpha} = A_4^{\alpha} = 0. {(3.43)}$$

Consequently, the remaining non-trivial BPS equations are

$$2iF_{u\bar{u}}^{\alpha} + g_{YM}^{2} \left((\Phi^{I})^{\dagger} T_{\mathfrak{R}^{I}}^{\alpha} \Phi^{I} - \eta \right) = 0, \qquad (3.44)$$

$$D_{\bar{u}}\Phi^I = 0$$
, $(D_w\Phi^I = 0 \text{ or } D_{\bar{w}}\Phi^I = 0)$. (3.45)

Formally, these equations can be solved by [23]:

$$A_{\bar{u}} = -\frac{i}{2}\vec{H} \cdot \partial_{\bar{u}}\vec{\omega}, \quad \Phi_{\rho}^{J} = \sqrt{\eta} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\omega}\right) h_{\rho}^{J}, \tag{3.46}$$

where J and ρ denote a general flavor and a general gauge group representation respectively, and \vec{H} are the Cartan generators, while $\vec{\omega} = (\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_r)$ are the profile functions, whose explicit form will not be important. The factor h_{ρ}^J is a polynomial given by

$$h_{\rho}^{J} = \begin{cases} u^{m_{i}} w^{k_{i}}, & \text{for vortex with } \vec{\rho} = \vec{\mu}_{i}, J = I_{i}; \\ u^{n_{i}} \bar{w}^{k'_{i}}, & \text{for anti-vortex with } \vec{\rho} = \vec{\mu}_{i}, J = I_{i}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(3.47)

Like the Abelian case, in the non-Abelian case we also have the Higgs branch solutions and the vortex solutions for the other components of the gauge field A_M^{α} and the scalar field Φ^J . The Higgs branch solutions are characterized by

$$F_{12}^{\alpha} = 0, \quad (\Phi^I)^{\dagger} T_{\mathfrak{R}^I}^{\alpha} \Phi^I - \eta = 0.$$
 (3.48)

The infinite towers of the vortex solutions are located at the north pole $(\theta = 0)$ and the south pole $(\theta = \pi)$ on S^2 , while at the origin (w = 0) of \mathbb{R}^2 at the same time.

Similar to the discussions in Subsection 3.2, we consider a non-Abelian vortex solution to Eq. (3.47) throughout the whole S^2 . Its asymptotic behaviors at different points are listed as follows:

• $\theta \approx 0$ (near the core of the vortex at the north pole):

$$\Phi^{I_i} \simeq (\theta e^{i\varphi})^{m_i} w^{k_i}, \quad A_{\varphi}^i \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I_i} - k_i \ell \varepsilon \quad (k_i \ge 0);$$
 (3.49)

• $\theta \approx \pi$ (near the core of the anti-vortex at the south pole):

$$\Phi^{I_i} \simeq (\hat{\theta} e^{i\varphi})^{n_i} w^{k'_i}, \quad A^i_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I_i} - k'_i \ell \varepsilon \quad (k'_i \ge 0);$$
(3.50)

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the northern hemisphere far from the core of the vortex):

$$\Phi^{I_i} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{im_i \varphi} w^{k_i}, \quad A^i_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I_i} - m_i - k_i \ell \varepsilon \quad (k_i \ge 0);$$
(3.51)

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the southern hemisphere far from the core of the anti-vortex):

$$\Phi^{I_i} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{in_i \varphi} w^{k'_i}, \quad A^i_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I_i} - n_i - k'_i \ell \varepsilon \quad (k'_i \ge 0),$$
(3.52)

where $\hat{\theta} \equiv \pi - \theta$, and the continuity of Φ^{I_i} at the equator will impose

$$k_i = k_i'. (3.53)$$

The integers m_i , n_i , $k_i = k'_i$ denote the numbers of the vortices at the north pole of S^2 , the vortices at the south pole of S^2 , the vortices at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ for the *i*-th Cartan generator respectively.

In principle there can also a configuration with a vortex solution at the north pole and an anti-vortex solution at the south pole, or vice versa. Gluing the solutions from the north and the south patches of S^2 together, the continuity of Φ^{I_i} at the equator will exclude all the non-trivial solutions.

4 Supersymmetric Localization

4.1 1-Loop Determinants

The partition function is given by the classical solutions and the 1-loop determinants of fluctuations around them. They can be conveniently computed using the index theorem by summing over contributions at the fixed points. We list the results in the following, and more details can be found in Appendix E.

We compute the index of the Dolbeault operator for the chiral multiplet. The Abelian case is discussed in Appendix E, and now we generalize the results there to the non-Abelian case. For the m_i -vortices in the I_i -th flavor background the index at the north pole of S^2 ($\theta = 0$) becomes

$$\operatorname{ind}_{N}^{\operatorname{chiral}} = -\sum_{J=1}^{N_{F}} \sum_{\vec{\rho} \in \mathfrak{R}^{J}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-ip\varepsilon} \sum_{q \geq 0} e^{-iq/\ell} e^{-i(\varepsilon - 1/\ell)R_{2}/2} e^{i\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}} e^{i\vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{N}}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where $\vec{\sigma}^N$ are constants defined by

$$\vec{\mu}_i \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N \equiv -\mathcal{F}_{I_i} \widetilde{m}_{I_i} + \frac{1}{\ell} m_i + k_i \varepsilon \,, \tag{4.2}$$

and $\vec{\sigma}^N$ can be understood as a special value of the Coulomb branch parameter [23], whose meaning will be clear in the "Coulomb branch" localization.²

For the n_i -anti-vortices in the I_i -th flavor background the index at the south pole of S^2 ($\theta = \pi$) becomes

$$\operatorname{ind}_{S}^{\operatorname{chiral}} = \sum_{J=1}^{N_{F}} \sum_{\vec{\rho} \in \mathfrak{R}^{J}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ip\varepsilon} \sum_{q \ge 1} e^{iq/\ell} e^{-i(\varepsilon - 1/\ell)R_{2}/2} e^{i\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}} e^{i\vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{S}}, \tag{4.3}$$

where $\vec{\sigma}^S$ are constants defined by

$$\vec{\mu}_i \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S \equiv -\mathcal{F}_{I_i} \widetilde{m}_{I_i} + \frac{1}{\ell} n_i + k_i \varepsilon. \tag{4.4}$$

In both Eq. (4.2) and Eq. (4.4), $\vec{\mu}_i$ denotes the weight vectors in the representation \mathfrak{R}^{I_i} of the gauge group, while k_i can be absorbed into a redefinition of p, hence does not appear in the final result.

Combining the indices (4.1) and (4.3), we obtain the 1-loop determinant for the generic J-th chiral multiplet ($J \neq I_i$) around the vortex solution characterized by the (anti-)vortex numbers (m_i , n_i) with the I_i -th flavor and the weight vector $\vec{\mu}_i$:

$$\left(Z_{I_i,\vec{\mu}_i}^{(m_i,n_i)}\right)_{\text{1-loop}}^{J\text{-th chiral}} = \prod_{\vec{\rho} \in \mathfrak{R}J} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \geq 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q+1) - \frac{1}{2}(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell})R_2 + \mathcal{F}_J \widetilde{m}_J + \vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S}{-p\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell}q - \frac{1}{2}(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell})R_2 + \mathcal{F}_J \widetilde{m}_J + \vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N} .$$
(4.5)

In the absence of superpotential, we will set the R-charge $R_2 = 0$ for simplicity in the following, which can be easily recovered for general R-charge assignments.

²We put "Coulomb branch" in quotation mark, because 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories do not have a standard Coulomb branch like in $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories.

Similar to the chiral multiplet, we can compute the indices of the de Rham operator for the vector multiplet. The indices at the north and the south poles are

$$\operatorname{ind}_{N}^{\operatorname{vec}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_{G}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-ip\varepsilon} e^{i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{N}}, \quad \operatorname{ind}_{S}^{\operatorname{vec}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_{G}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ip\varepsilon} e^{i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{S}}. \tag{4.6}$$

In Eq. (4.6), $\vec{\alpha}$ takes value in the set Δ_G of the root vectors of the gauge group, which generalizes the Abelian case discussed in the previous section to the non-Abelian case. For the Abelian case, $i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N$ and $i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S$ both vanish, and the sum over the roots can be removed.

Combining the indices in (4.6), we obtain the 1-loop determinant for the vector multiplet around the vortex solution characterized by the (anti-)vortex numbers (m_i, n_i) in the I_i -th flavor with the representation $\vec{\mu}_i$:

$$\left(Z_{I_i}^{(m_i, n_i)} \right)_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_G} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[-ip\varepsilon + i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[ip\varepsilon + i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.7)

Similar to Refs. [35, 49], the expression (4.7) can be regularized as

$$\left(Z_{I_i}^{(m_i, n_i)} \right)_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_G} x^{-\frac{|\alpha(m-n)|}{2}} \left(1 - e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\varepsilon} \alpha(\tilde{m})} x^{|\alpha(m-n)| - \alpha(m+n)} \right) , \tag{4.8}$$

where the parameter x is defined as

$$x \equiv e^{-\frac{i\pi}{\ell\varepsilon}} \,. \tag{4.9}$$

In Eq. (4.5), we considered a generic flavor $J \neq I_i$. As discussed in Ref. [23], for $J = I_i$ there is a subtlety about the contribution from the unphysical modes to the 1-loop determinant, which we would like to clarify now.

As we discussed, the non-trivial BPS equations (3.44) (3.45) have the formal solutions (3.46). The fluctuations around these solutions can be obtained by linearizing the solutions (3.46):

$$\delta A_{\bar{u}} = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\vec{H}\cdot\vec{\omega}}(i\partial_{\bar{u}}\delta\Omega) e^{\frac{1}{2}\vec{H}\cdot\vec{\omega}}, \quad \delta\Phi_{\rho}^{J} = \sqrt{\eta} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\vec{\rho}\cdot\vec{\omega}} \left[\delta h^{J} + \delta\Omega \cdot h^{J}\right]_{\rho}, \tag{4.10}$$

where $\Omega(u, \bar{u})$ is a g-valued function. The non-trivial BPS equation (3.45) includes both the holomorphic case and the anti-holomorphic case. To simplify our discussions, let us focus on the holomorphic case in the following, and the anti-holomorphic case is similar.

These fluctuations are invariant under the following transformations:

$$\delta h^J \to \delta h^J + v(u, w, \bar{w}) h^J, \quad \delta \Omega \to \delta \Omega - v(u, w, \bar{w}),$$
 (4.11)

where $v(u, w, \bar{w})$ is a \mathfrak{g} -valued regular function, which is holomorphic in u and has the decomposition:

$$v(u, w, \bar{w}) = \vec{P}(u, w, \bar{w}) \cdot \vec{H} + \sum_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_G} Q_{\vec{\alpha}}(u, w, \bar{w}) E_{\vec{\alpha}}. \tag{4.12}$$

The transformations (4.11) introduce some unphysical modes, which should be removed from the final result of the partition function.

Due to the decomposition given by Eq. (4.12), we distinguish the unphysical modes caused by the Cartan part $\sim H_i$ and the off-diagonal part $\sim E_{\vec{\alpha}}$. Because the unphysical modes caused by the Cartan part are flavor-dependent, removing them will contribute to the partition function of the chiral multiplet. On the contrary, since the off-diagonal part of the unphysical modes is independent of the flavor, when removing these modes, the possible additional contribution can be assigned to the vector multiplet partition function.

For the vortex solution in the Cartan part, due to $h_{\vec{\mu}_i}^{I_i} \sim u^{m_i}$, v(u) can be used to remove all the powers $\geq m_i$ in the expansion of $\delta h_{\vec{\mu}_i}^{I_i}$, i.e.,

for
$$\vec{\rho} = \vec{\mu}_i$$
, $J = I_i$: $\delta h_{\vec{\mu}_i}^{I_i} = \sum_{q=0}^{m_i-1} c_{\vec{\mu}_i, q}^{I_i}(w, \bar{w}) u^q$. (4.13)

Together with the modes around the anti-vortex solution in the Cartan part, the product in the 1-loop determinant (4.5) for $\vec{\rho} = \vec{\mu}_i$, $J = I_i$ will be restricted to:

$$\prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\prod_{q=0}^{-n_i-1} \left(p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}q + \mathcal{F}_{I_i} \widetilde{m}_{I_i} + \vec{\mu}_i \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S \right)}{\prod_{q=0}^{m_i-1} \left(-p\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell}q + \mathcal{F}_{I_i} \widetilde{m}_{I_i} + \vec{\mu}_i \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N \right)} = \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\prod_{q=0}^{-n_i-1} \left(p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}q + \frac{1}{\ell}n_i \right)}{\prod_{q=0}^{m_i-1} \left(-p\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell}q + \frac{1}{\ell}m_i \right)}, \quad (4.14)$$

where we have used Eqs. (4.2) and (4.4), and the minus sign of $-n_i$ is due to the regularity requirement of the configurations at the south pole $(u = \infty)$. However, for $n_i \ge 0$ the modes around the anti-vortex cannot be removed by the redundancy (4.11), which is consistent with the fact that the range of the infinite product in the numerator is empty for $n_i > 0$. Also, the range of the infinite product in the denominator is empty for $m_i = 0$, hence the expression above should not enter the perturbative part of the partition function.

Finally, the 1-loop determinant of the physical N_F pairs of chiral and anti-chiral multiplets around the vortex solution characterized by the (anti-)vortex numbers $(m_i, n_i) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_{\geq 0}$ with the I_i -th flavor and the weight vector $\vec{\mu}_i$ is given by

$$\left(Z_{I_{i},\vec{\mu}_{i}}^{(m_{i},n_{i})}\right)_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{chiral}} = \left[\prod_{J=1}^{N_{F}}'\prod_{\vec{\rho}\in\mathfrak{R}^{J}}\prod_{p\in\mathbb{Z}}\prod_{q\geq0}\frac{p\varepsilon+\frac{1}{\ell}(q+1)+\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}+\vec{\rho}\cdot\vec{\sigma}^{S}}{-p\varepsilon-\frac{1}{\ell}q+\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}+\vec{\rho}\cdot\vec{\sigma}^{N}}\right] \cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{r}\prod_{p\in\mathbb{Z}}\frac{\prod_{q\geq0}\left(p\varepsilon+\frac{1}{\ell}(q+1)+\frac{1}{\ell}n_{i}\right)}{\prod_{q=0}^{m_{i}-1}\left(-p\varepsilon-\frac{1}{\ell}q+\frac{1}{\ell}m_{i}\right)}\right],$$
(4.15)

where in the first line the prime on the products denotes the condition $(J, \vec{\rho}) \neq (I_i, \vec{\mu}_i)$. Similar to Refs. [35, 49], the expression (4.15) can be regularized as

$$\left(Z_{I_{i},\vec{\mu}_{i}}^{(m_{i},n_{i})}\right)_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{chiral}}$$

$$= \left[\prod_{J=1}^{N_{F}} \prod_{\vec{\rho} \in \mathfrak{R}^{J}}' \left(x^{1+\rho(n)+\rho(m)+2\ell\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\varepsilon}\rho(\widetilde{m})}\right)^{\frac{\rho(n)-\rho(m)}{2}} \frac{\left(x^{2+2\rho(n)+2\ell\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\varepsilon}\rho(\widetilde{m})}; x^{2}\right)_{\infty}}{\left(x^{-2\rho(m)-2\ell\mathcal{F}_{J}\widetilde{m}_{J}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{\varepsilon}\rho(\widetilde{m})}; x^{2}\right)_{\infty}}\right]$$

$$\cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{r} \frac{x^{\frac{1}{2}(n^{2}+n+\frac{1}{6})}(x^{2+2n}; x^{2})_{\infty}}{\prod_{q=0}^{m_{i}-1} \sinh\left[\frac{i\pi}{\ell\varepsilon}(q-m_{i})\right]}\right], \tag{4.16}$$

where we used the q-Pochhammer symbol $(a; q)_n$ defined as

$$(a; q)_n \equiv \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} (1 - a q^k), \qquad (4.17)$$

and the Hurwitz zeta function regularization:

$$\sum_{q>0} (q+x) = \zeta_H(-1,x) = -\frac{1}{2}(x^2 - x + \frac{1}{6}). \tag{4.18}$$

There is another possible contribution to the 1-loop determinant of the vector multiplet, which originates from the off-diagonal part of $v(u, w, \bar{w})$ in Eq. (4.12). Consider a basis for the off-diagonal part of $v(u, w, \bar{w})$ given by $u^q g(w, \bar{w}) E_{\vec{\alpha}}$ $(q \ge 0)$. The corresponding unphysical modes are

$$\delta h^J = u^q g(w, \bar{w}) E_{\vec{\alpha}} \cdot h^J, \tag{4.19}$$

where $g(w, \bar{w})$ is a regular function. The anti-holomorphic part has a similar expansion.

We should remove these unphysical modes in the partition function. Taking into account the expression of h^J given by Eq. (3.47), one can show that to remove the contribution from the vortex solution is equivalent to multiplying the 1-loop determinant with

$$\prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_G} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q=0}^{\infty} \left(-p\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell} (q + \alpha(m)) + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^N \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.20)

To remove the contribution from the anti-vortex solution, we should also multiply the 1-loop determinant with

$$\prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_G} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell} (q - \alpha(n)) + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^S} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} . \tag{4.21}$$

Up to a constant these two factors cancel each other. Therefore, in our case the unphysical modes from the off-diagonal part do not contribute to the 1-loop determinant, and the 1-loop determinant of the physical vector multiplet is just given by Eqs. (4.7) and (4.8).

4.2 Vortex Partition Functions

Based on the results from the previous subsection, now we can write down the full partition functions for 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories. For simplicity, in this subsection we consider two special examples. The generalization to more complicated theories is straightforward.

For the Abelian case, we consider a U(1) gauge group with one vector multiplet and N_F pairs of chiral and anti-chiral multiplets. The full partition function of this 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory with $(m,n)\in\mathbb{Z}^2_{\geq 0}$ is

$$Z_I = \sum_{m,n} Z_{\text{class}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{chiral}}$$
(4.22)

with

$$Z_{\text{class}} = e^{-2\pi i (m-n)\tau_{0}},$$

$$Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} = 1,$$

$$Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{chiral}} = \left[\prod_{\substack{J=1\\J \neq I}}^{N_{F}} \left(x^{1+n+m-2\ell \tilde{m}_{IJ}} \right)^{\frac{n-m}{2}} \frac{\left(x^{2+2m-2\ell \tilde{m}_{IJ}}; \ x^{2} \right)_{\infty}}{\left(x^{-2m+2\ell \tilde{m}_{IJ}}; \ x^{2} \right)_{\infty}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\prod_{q=0}^{m-1} \sinh\left[\frac{i\pi}{\ell\varepsilon}(q-m)\right]} \right],$$
(4.23)

where $\widetilde{m}_{IJ} \equiv \widetilde{m}_I - \widetilde{m}_J$. The full partition function can be decomposed into the perturbative part and the vortex part:

$$Z_I = (Z_I)_{\text{pert}} \cdot (Z_I)_{\text{vortex}} ,$$
 (4.24)

where

$$(Z_I)_{\text{pert}} = Z_I \Big|_{m=n=0}. \tag{4.25}$$

For the non-Abelian case, we consider a U(N) gauge group with one vector multiplet and N_F pairs of chiral and anti-chiral multiplets in the fundamental representation. The full partition function of this 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory with $(m_i, n_i) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^2$ is

$$Z_{I_i,\vec{\mu}_i} = \sum_{m_i,n_i} Z_{\text{class}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{chiral}}$$

$$(4.26)$$

with

$$Z_{\text{class}} = \prod_{i=1}^{N} e^{-2\pi i (m_{i} - n_{i})\tau_{0}},$$

$$Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{N} x^{-\frac{|(m_{i} - n_{i}) - (m_{j} - n_{j})|}{2}} \left(1 - e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\varepsilon} (\widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{j}})} x^{|(m_{i} - n_{i}) - (m_{j} - n_{j})| - (m_{i} + n_{i}) + (m_{j} + n_{j})}\right),$$

$$Z_{\text{1-loop}}^{\text{chiral}} = \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{J=1\\J \neq I_{i}}}^{N_{F}} \left(x^{1 + n_{i} + m_{i} + 2\ell(\widetilde{m}_{J} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}})}\right)^{\frac{\rho(n) - \rho(m)}{2}} \frac{\left(x^{2 + 2m_{i} + 2\ell(\widetilde{m}_{J} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}})}; x^{2}\right)_{\infty}}{\left(x^{-2m_{i} - 2\ell(\widetilde{m}_{J} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}})}; x^{2}\right)_{\infty}}\right]$$

$$\cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{q=0}^{m_{i}-1} \sinh\left[\frac{i\pi}{\ell\varepsilon}(q - m_{i})\right]}\right],$$

$$(4.27)$$

where the fundamental weight vectors $\vec{\mu}_i$ ($i = 1, \dots, r$) are chosen to be the standard basis vectors of \mathbb{R}^r , while for the root vector:

$$\vec{\alpha} = \vec{\mu}_i - \vec{\mu}_j \quad \text{with } 1 \le i \ne j \le r \,. \tag{4.28}$$

Similar to the Abelian case, for the non-Abelian case the full partition function can also be decomposed into the perturbative part and the vortex part:

$$Z_{I_i, \vec{\mu}_i} = (Z_{I_i, \vec{\mu}_i})_{\text{pert}} \cdot (Z_{I_i, \vec{\mu}_i})_{\text{vortex}},$$
 (4.29)

where

$$(Z_{I_i,\vec{\mu}_i})_{\text{pert}} = Z_{I_i,\vec{\mu}_i} \Big|_{m_i = n_i = 0}$$
 (4.30)

We would like to emphasize that the results of the partition functions discussed in this section are discussed in the Higgs branch. In principle, the localization can also be performed in the "Coulomb branch", and the result can be expressed as an integral over the Coulomb branch parameter σ , which should be equal to the one from the Higgs branch discussed in this paper. We leave this study for future research.

4.3 Some Discussions

As pointed out in [50], the partition functions of $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on curved manifolds suffer from ambiguities, and the results depend on the renormalization scheme. However, for certain $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories such as class \mathcal{S}_k theories [51, 52] and some mass-deformed $\mathcal{N}=1^*$ theories, the partition functions can still be unambiguously defined.

In this paper we have chosen a scheme implicitly during our calculations. Nevertheless, we can still compute within this scheme and extract some universal contributions independent of the scheme. What has been computed in this paper can be viewed as building blocks that can be used to construct arbitrary $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories within the chosen scheme. The same treatment has been done in a previous work [5].

5 Seiberg Duality

In this section, we use the partition functions obtained in the previous section to check an infrared duality between two theories. This is a duality first studied by Seiberg between a 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ SU(N) gauge theory with N_F (> N) flavors and an $SU(N_F-N)$ gauge theory with N_F flavors plus gauge singlets [53]. Later, many similar dualities have been discovered in various dimensions by changing gauge groups and matter contents. For simplicity, we will study the U(N) version of the original duality, which was first introduced in [54] using brane constructions and later studied in [55] in more details. The U(N) Seiberg duality can be related to the SU(N) Seiberg duality by gauging the U(1) baryonic symmetry. Various Seiberg-like dualities have been extensively tested using the supersymmetric index [39–41]. Here we will apply our partition functions to test the U(N) duality beyond the supersymmetric index.

Technically, our approach is a 4d uplift of the test of the 2d Seiberg-like duality for U(N) gauge theories in [33], in which the generalization to 2d SU(N) gauge theories has also been discussed. In principle, we can also generalize the discussions in this section to 4d SU(N) gauge theories. For simplicity, we will skip this step and save it for the future research.

The partition function of a U(N) gauge theory with N_F pairs of fundamental chiral and anti-chiral multiplets is given by Eq. (4.26) and Eq. (4.27). We observe that the full partition function can also be factorized into the perturbative part, the vortex part and the anti-vortex part as follows:

$$Z_{I_i,\vec{u}_i} = Z_{\text{pert}} \cdot Z_{\text{v}} \cdot Z_{\text{av}}. \tag{5.1}$$

To test Seiberg duality, we should prove that each part on the right-hand side of the equation above is invariant under the duality transformations:

$$-\widetilde{m}_{T}^{D} = \begin{cases} \widetilde{m}_{T} + \frac{1}{4\ell} & \text{for fundamental in } SU(N_{F}), \\ \widetilde{m}_{T} - \frac{1}{4\ell} & \text{for anti-fundamental in } SU(N_{F}), \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

$$\vec{L} \leftrightarrow \vec{L}^D$$

where we adopt a slightly different notation as follows. Because $N_F > N$, we can pick up N out of N_F flavors, which are previously labelled by the index I_i $(i=1,\cdots,N)$. From now on, let us denote a flavor J within the N selected ones by $J \in \vec{L}$, otherwise $J \notin \vec{L}$. We also use \vec{L}^D to denote the complement set of \vec{L} . The shifts $\sim \frac{1}{\ell}$ in the dual masses \widetilde{m}_T^D are due to (2.55) and the R-charge assignment of the duality, while \widetilde{m}_T are unshifted masses in the original theory. If we require that the expressions in (2.55) and (5.2) are equal for a special case $\frac{1}{\ell} = \hbar = -\varepsilon$ considered later in the paper, then we obtain $N_F/N = 2$, which strictly stays in the conformal window $3N/2 < N_F < 3N$. Hence, the duality map (5.2) is consistent.

Some attention should be paid for the gauge couplings. Since Seiberg duality is an electro-magnetic duality, there should be

$$g_{YM} \propto \frac{1}{g_{YM}^D} \,. \tag{5.3}$$

The gauge couplings and the theta angles only appear in the complex coupling τ_0 (3.40) in the classical part of partition function. In principle, τ_0 should be renormalized, and consequently the partition function depends on the energy scale. Since Seiberg duality is an IR duality, as a test of Seiberg duality we should compare the partition functions of two dual theories at the IR fixed point. We choose at the IR fixed point that

at IR fixed point:
$$g_{YM}^D = g_{YM}$$
, $\vartheta^D = \vartheta$, (5.4)

which are not true for the dual theories in the UV. The precise relation between the couplings in the UV should be obtained using the RG equation, and is consistent with (5.3).

Let us first consider the perturbative part of the partition function, Z_{pert} . In the new notation, it can be written as

$$Z_{\text{pert}} = \left[\prod_{\substack{I,J \in \vec{L} \ p \in \mathbb{Z} \\ I \neq J}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} (p\varepsilon + \widetilde{m}_I - \widetilde{m}_J) \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{T \in \vec{L}} \prod_{\substack{S=1 \\ S \neq T}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \geq 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + (q+1)\frac{1}{\ell} + \widetilde{m}_S - \widetilde{m}_T}{p\varepsilon + q\frac{1}{\ell} - \widetilde{m}_S + \widetilde{m}_T} \right] . (5.5)$$

The second product of the expression above can be further factorized into two products due to

$$\prod_{T \in \vec{L}} \prod_{\substack{S=1 \\ S \neq T}}^{N_F} = \prod_{\substack{S, T \in \vec{L} \ T \in \vec{L} \\ S \neq T}} . \tag{5.6}$$

The product with $S, T \in \vec{L}$ $(S \neq T)$ exactly cancels the first product in Eq. (5.5). Hence, Z_{pert} is equal to the product with $T \in \vec{L}$, $S \notin \vec{L}$, i.e.,

$$Z_{\text{pert}} = \prod_{\substack{T \in \vec{L} \ p \in \mathbb{Z} \\ S \notin \vec{L}}} \prod_{q \ge 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + (q+1)\frac{1}{\ell} + \widetilde{m}_S - \widetilde{m}_T}{p\varepsilon + q\frac{1}{\ell} - \widetilde{m}_S + \widetilde{m}_T}.$$
 (5.7)

This expression can be regularized using the sinh function and the q-Pochhammer symbol as before. After the transformations (5.2), it becomes the combination of the W-boson and the fundamental chiral multiplets in the dual theory. Moreover, the dual theory should also receive the contribution from the gauge singlets

$$Z^{\text{singlet}} = \prod_{S,T=1}^{N_F} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \ge 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + (q+1)\frac{1}{\ell} + \widetilde{m}_S^D - \widetilde{m}_T^D}{p\varepsilon + q\frac{1}{\ell} - \widetilde{m}_S^D + \widetilde{m}_T^D}$$

$$= \prod_{S,T=1}^{N_F} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \ge 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + (q+1)\frac{1}{\ell} - (\widetilde{m}_S + \frac{1}{4\ell}) + (\widetilde{m}_T - \frac{1}{4\ell})}{p\varepsilon + q\frac{1}{\ell} + (\widetilde{m}_S + \frac{1}{4\ell}) - (\widetilde{m}_T - \frac{1}{4\ell})},$$
(5.8)

which contributes a trivial factor to the partition function of the dual theory. Hence, the perturbative partition function of the dual theory is exactly equal to (5.7).

Now let us consider the vortex and the anti-vortex parts of the partition function, which are given by

$$Z_{\text{v}} = \sum_{\vec{m}} e^{2\pi i \tau_{0} |\vec{m}|} \left[\prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_{G}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{p\varepsilon + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{N}}{p\varepsilon + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{N}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q=0}^{m_{i}-1} \frac{1}{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q - m_{i})} \right]$$

$$\cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{J=1\\J \neq I_{i}}}^{N_{F}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \geq 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}q - \widetilde{m}_{J} + \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}}}{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}q - \widetilde{m}_{J} + \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \frac{1}{\ell}m_{i}} \right],$$

$$(5.9)$$

$$Z_{\text{av}} = \sum_{\vec{n}} e^{-2\pi i \tau_{0} |\vec{n}|} \left[\prod_{\vec{\alpha} \in \Delta_{G}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{p\varepsilon + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{S}}{p\varepsilon + \vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{S} \Big|_{n_{i}=0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q + 1) + \frac{1}{\ell}n_{i}}{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q + 1)} \right]$$

$$\cdot \left[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{J=1\\J \neq I_{i}}}^{N_{F}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{q \geq 0} \frac{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q + 1) + \widetilde{m}_{J} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} + \frac{1}{\ell}n_{i}}{p\varepsilon + \frac{1}{\ell}(q + 1) + \widetilde{m}_{J} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}}} \right] .$$

$$(5.10)$$

After a few steps, $Z_{\rm v}$ with $m_i > 0$ can be simplified as

$$Z_{\rm v} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} e^{2\pi i \tau_0 m} Z_{\rm v}^m \tag{5.11}$$

with $m \equiv |\vec{m}|$ and

$$Z_{\mathbf{v}}^{m} = \sum_{\substack{\vec{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{N} \\ |\vec{m}| = m}} \frac{\prod_{\substack{i,j=1 \\ i \neq j}}^{N} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{p\varepsilon + \tilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \frac{1}{\ell} m_{i} - \tilde{m}_{I_{j}} + \frac{1}{\ell} m_{j}}{p\varepsilon + \tilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \tilde{m}_{I_{j}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{j=1 \\ J=1}}^{N} \prod_{\substack{j=1 \\ J=1}}^{N_{F}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{1}{\ell} \right)^{m_{i}} \left(p\ell\varepsilon - \ell \tilde{m}_{J} + \ell \tilde{m}_{I_{i}} - m_{i} \right)_{m_{i}}},$$
 (5.12)

where we used the Pochhammer symbol, which is defined as

$$(x)_m \equiv \prod_{k=0}^{m-1} (x+k).$$
 (5.13)

Similarly, Z_{av} with $n_i > 0$ can be rewritten as

$$Z_{\rm av} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi i \tau_0 n} Z_{\rm av}^n$$
 (5.14)

with $n \equiv |\vec{n}|$ and

$$Z_{\text{av}}^{n} = \sum_{\substack{\vec{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{N} \\ |\vec{n}| = n}} \frac{\prod_{\substack{i,j=1 \\ i \neq j}}^{N} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{p\varepsilon + \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \frac{1}{\ell} n_{i} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{j}} + \frac{1}{\ell} n_{j}}{p\varepsilon + \widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} - \widetilde{m}_{I_{j}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{J=1 \\ J=1}}^{N} \prod_{j=1}^{N_{F}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(-\frac{1}{\ell} \right)^{n_{i}} \left(p\ell\varepsilon - \ell\widetilde{m}_{J} + \ell\widetilde{m}_{I_{i}} - n_{i} \right)_{n_{i}}}.$$

$$(5.15)$$

In the following let us focus on the vortex part of the partition function, i.e. $Z_{\rm v}$. The anti-vortex part $Z_{\rm av}$ can be treated similarly.

We observe that the expression (5.12) is very similar to the vortex partition function on S^2 studied in Refs. [33, 34], and the only difference is that in our case there is an extra product over $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. In principle, we can regularize this infinite product and test the 4d Seiberg duality directly, however, it is technically easier to keep the unregularized infinite product, so that the problem of testing the 4d Seiberg duality becomes a problem of testing the 2d Seiberg-like duality. Hence, we can apply the same trick as in Ref. [33] to test Seiberg duality in the following.

Applying the following identity of the Pochhammer symbol

$$(a-n)_m(-a-m)_n = \left(1 + \frac{m-n}{a}\right)^{-1} (a+1)_m(-a+1)_n,$$
 (5.16)

in the new notation we can rewrite the numerator of the summand in Eq. (5.12) as

$$(-1)^{(N-1)m} \prod_{\substack{S,T \in \vec{L} \ p \in \mathbb{Z} \\ S \neq T}} \frac{(p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_S)_{m_S}}{(p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_S)_{m_T}}, \tag{5.17}$$

and the denominator as

$$\prod_{S \in \vec{L}} \left[\prod_{T \in \vec{L}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} (p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_S)_{m_S} \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{T \notin \vec{L}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} (p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_S)_{m_S} \right].$$
(5.18)

Using Eqs. (5.17) and (5.18), we can express Eq. (5.12) as

$$Z_{\mathbf{v}}^{m} = \sum_{\substack{\vec{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{N} \\ |\vec{m}| = m}} (-1)^{(N-1)m} \prod_{S \in \vec{L}} \frac{1}{\left[\prod_{T \in \vec{L}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} (p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_{S})_{m_{T}} \right]} \cdot \frac{1}{\left[\prod_{T \notin \vec{L}} \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} (p\ell\varepsilon + \ell \widetilde{m}_{ST} - m_{S})_{m_{S}} \right]},$$
(5.19)

which can be regularized as

$$Z_{v}^{m} = \sum_{\substack{\vec{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{N} \\ |\vec{m}| = m}} (-1)^{(N-1)m} b^{AN_{F}m} \prod_{S \in \vec{L}} \frac{1}{\left[\prod_{T \in \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b \widetilde{m}_{ST} - b m_{S})_{(b, m_{T})}\right]} \cdot \frac{1}{\left[\prod_{T \notin \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b \widetilde{m}_{ST} - b m_{S})_{(b, m_{S})}\right]},$$
(5.20)

where $b \equiv \frac{\pi}{\ell \varepsilon}$, and A is the regularized value of $\sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} 1$. We have also introduced the modified sine-Pochhammer symbol:

$$\sin(x)_{(a,m)} \equiv \prod_{k=0}^{m-1} \sin(x+ak).$$
 (5.21)

Because $\frac{1}{\sin(x)}$ has a simple pole at x = 0, we can rewrite the expression (5.20) into a contour integral:

$$Z_{\mathbf{v}}^{m} = \frac{(-1)^{(N-1)m} b^{AN_{F}m}}{m! \left[\sin(b)\right]^{m}} \int_{C} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{d\varphi_{j}}{2\pi i} \right] \left[\prod_{i< j}^{m} \frac{\left(\sin(\ell b\varphi_{i} - \ell b\varphi_{j})\right)^{2}}{\sin(\ell b\varphi_{i} - \ell b\varphi_{j} + b) \cdot \sin(\ell b\varphi_{i} - \ell b\varphi_{j} - b)} \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{1}{\prod_{S \in \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b\varphi_{j} - \ell b\widetilde{m}_{S}) \cdot \prod_{T \notin \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b\widetilde{m}_{T} - \ell b\varphi_{j} - b)} \right].$$
 (5.22)

where the contour C is chosen in the following way. First, we assume that the parameter $\frac{1}{\ell}$, the masses $\widetilde{m}_{S\in \vec{L}}$ and $\widetilde{m}_{T\notin \vec{L}}$ have small positive imaginary parts, and the imaginary part of $\frac{1}{\ell}$ is larger than the ones for the masses. Consequently, we find in the upper half-plane the following poles:

$$\widetilde{m}_S, \, \widetilde{m}_S + \frac{1}{\ell}, \, \cdots, \, \widetilde{m}_S + (m_S - 1)\frac{1}{\ell} \quad (S \in \vec{L}).$$
 (5.23)

Second, since $\frac{1}{\sin(x)}$ has poles at $x = l\pi$ with $l \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\widetilde{m}_S + l\pi \,,\, \widetilde{m}_S + \frac{1}{\ell} + l\pi \,,\, \cdots \,,\, \widetilde{m}_S + (m_S - 1)\frac{1}{\ell} + l\pi \quad (S \in \vec{L})$$
 (5.24)

are also poles in the upper plane. We take the contour C along the real axis and closed in the upper plane, but then we deform it in such a way that it encloses only the poles with l = 0, i.e. the poles given by Eq. (5.23).

We observe that the contour integral (5.22) can be viewed as a trigonometric version of the contour integral discussed in Ref. [33]. Similar to that case, the contour integral (5.22) has no poles at infinity when $N_F > 1$. We define the integration variables for the dual theory as

$$\varphi_j^D = -\varphi_j - \frac{1}{\ell} \,, \tag{5.25}$$

and the other parameters in the dual theory are still related to the ones in the original theory through the duality transformations (5.2). In terms of the dual integration variables and parameters, the contour integral (5.22) can be rewritten as

$$Z_{\mathbf{v}}^{m} = \frac{(-1)^{(N-1)m} b^{AN_{F}m}}{m! \left[\sin(b)\right]^{m}} \int_{C^{D}} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{d\varphi_{j}^{D}}{2\pi i} \right] \left[\prod_{i< j}^{m} \frac{\left(\sin(\ell b \varphi_{i}^{D} - \ell b \varphi_{j}^{D})\right)^{2}}{\sin(\ell b \varphi_{i}^{D} - \ell b \varphi_{j}^{D} + b) \cdot \sin(\ell b \varphi_{i}^{D} - \ell b \varphi_{j}^{D} - b)} \right] \cdot \left[\prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{1}{\prod_{T \notin \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b \varphi_{j}^{D} - \ell b \widetilde{m}_{T}^{D}) \cdot \prod_{S \in \vec{L}} \sin(\ell b \widetilde{m}_{S}^{D} - \ell b \varphi_{j}^{D} - b)} \right],$$
 (5.26)

where the contour C^D is now chosen to be along the real axis and closed in the upper half-plane, and then deformed in such a way that it picks up only the poles at

$$\widetilde{m}_{T}^{D}, \ \widetilde{m}_{T}^{D} + \frac{1}{\ell}, \dots, \ \widetilde{m}_{T}^{D} + (m_{T} - 1)\frac{1}{\ell} \quad (T \in \vec{L}^{D}).$$
 (5.27)

Now the expression (5.26) describes the vortex part of the partition function of an $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theory on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ with N_F flavors and a gauge group $U(N_F - N)$.

Combining the perturbative part, the vortex part and the anti-vortex part of the partition function on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, we conclude that at the IR fixed point

$$Z_{U(N)}(g_{YM}, \vartheta, \widetilde{m}_i) = Z_{U(N_F - N)}(g_{YM}^D, \vartheta^D, \widetilde{m}_i^D).$$

$$(5.28)$$

The original 4d Seiberg duality has special unitary gauge groups instead of the unitary gauge groups. In principle, we can apply the approaches in Refs. [33, 54] to obtain the results for the special unitary gauge groups from our results. It is more convenient to use the integral expression of the partition function obtained in the "Coulomb branch". Also, using the $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions on $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ we can also consider other dualities. We would like to leave these for future work.

6 Comparison with Nekrasov Partition Functions

Because $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ approaches the 4d Ω -background near the poles of S^2 , we expect that our results can be interpreted as a product of two partition functions on the Ω -background, each from one patch of $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. This picture is consistent with previous works in the literature [3, 56, 57]. Because $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories can be formulated in terms of $\mathcal{N}=1$ multiplets, from these elementary building blocks we should be able to construct the $\mathcal{N}=2$ partition functions on the Ω -background, also known as the Nekrasov partition function [2, 46, 47].

There is a technical subtlety. Due to the SUSY algebra given by Eqs. (2.56) and (2.48), all the eigenmodes $e^{ip\psi}$ to the operator ∂_{ψ} on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ should contribute to the 1-loop determinant, which corresponds to the product over $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ in Eqs. (4.5) and (4.15). However, to compare with the Nekrasov partition functions, we should focus on the vortex sector without anti-vortices on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. Hence, the products should now be taken over $p \geq 0$ instead of $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ due to the expansion in the basis of holomorphic functions $\{1, w, w^2, \cdots\}$.

After taking care of this subtlety, we can propose the $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions on the Ω -background, and then compare them with the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Nekrasov partition functions. To do so, we need to identify the parameters $(1/\ell, \varepsilon)$ from $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ with the equivariant parameters $(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ of the Ω -background, i.e.,

$$\varepsilon_1 \equiv \pm \frac{1}{\ell}, \quad \varepsilon_2 \equiv \varepsilon,$$
(6.1)

and also the twisted masses with the Coulomb branch parameters:

$$a_i \equiv -\widetilde{m}_{I_i} \,. \tag{6.2}$$

Note that in a general Ω -background, $(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ can be complex. Here we identify $(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ with the real parameters in our theory, and conjecture that the results can be analytically continued to complex parameters.

With these identifications, let us first consider the $\mathcal{N}=2$ vector multiplet, which can be decomposed into an $\mathcal{N}=1$ vector multiplet and an adjoint chiral multiplet. From Eq. (4.5) and the expressions (4.7) (4.20) with $\prod_{p\in\mathbb{Z}}$ replaced by $\prod_{p\geq 0}$, we first propose the following expressions for the partition functions of the $\mathcal{N}=1$ adjoint chiral and the vector multiplets on the Ω -background:

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{adj}} = \prod_{i \neq j} \prod_{p \geq 0} \prod_{q \geq 0} \left[(q+1)\varepsilon_1 + p\varepsilon_2 + \sigma_i - \sigma_j \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{6.3}$$

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{vec}} = \left(\prod_{i \neq j} \prod_{p \geq 0} (p\varepsilon_2 + \sigma_i - \sigma_j)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \cdot \left(\prod_{i \neq j} \prod_{p \geq 0} \prod_{q \geq 0} (q\varepsilon_1 + p\varepsilon_2 + \sigma_i - \sigma_j)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right). \tag{6.4}$$

Therefore,

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{adj}} \cdot Z_{\Omega}^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{i \neq j} \prod_{p \geq 0} \prod_{q \geq 0} \left[q \varepsilon_1 + p \varepsilon_2 + \sigma_i - \sigma_j \right], \tag{6.5}$$

where σ_i $(i = 1, \dots, r)$ include the contributions from vortices on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$:

$$\sigma_i = -\widetilde{m}_{I_i} + k_i \,\varepsilon \,. \tag{6.6}$$

Moreover, we make a partition of the vortex number k_i :

$$k_i^1 \ge k_i^2 \ge \dots \ge k_i^{l(k_i)} \ge k_i^{l(k_i)+1} = k_i^{l(k_i)+2} = \dots = 0,$$
 (6.7)

which form r Young diagrams for $i=1, \dots, r$, and $l(k_i)$ denotes the length of the i-th Young diagram. We treat k_i^q $(q \ge 1)$ with different q's as solutions in different sectors, and

$$k_i = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} k_i^q, \quad k_i^0 = 0.$$
 (6.8)

Hence, in the q-sector we have

$$\sigma_i = a_i + k_i^q \, \varepsilon_2 \,. \tag{6.9}$$

Consequently, Eq. (6.5) becomes

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{adj}} \cdot Z_{\Omega}^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,p)\neq(j,q)}}^{r} \prod_{p\geq0} \prod_{q\geq0} \left[q\varepsilon_1 + p\varepsilon_2 + a_i - a_j + k_i^{q+1} \varepsilon_2 - k_j^{p+1} \varepsilon_2 \right]. \tag{6.10}$$

When $-\varepsilon_1 = \hbar = \varepsilon_2$, by setting the vortex numbers to zero and applying a regularization similar to Ref. [2] using the Barnes double zeta function $\zeta_2(s; x|\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ defined in (F.1), we can also extract the perturbative part of the partition function from Eq. (6.10):

$$\exp\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \gamma_{\hbar}(a_i - a_j)\right) , \qquad (6.11)$$

where $\gamma_{\hbar}(x) \equiv \frac{d}{ds}\big|_{s=0}\zeta_2(s;x|-\hbar,\hbar)$. This is the same as the perturbative partition function for the $\mathcal{N}=2$ vector multiplet [2, 46, 47]. ³ After subtracting the perturbative contribution from the expression above, what remains is

$$\prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,p)\neq(j,q)}}^{r} \prod_{p\geq 0} \prod_{q\geq 0} \frac{a_i - a_j + \hbar(k_i^{q+1} - k_j^{p+1} + p - q)}{a_i - a_j + \hbar(p - q)}$$

$$= \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,p)\neq(j,q)}}^{r} \prod_{p\geq 1} \prod_{q\geq 1} \frac{a_i - a_j + \hbar(k_i^q - k_j^p + p - q)}{a_i - a_j + \hbar(p - q)}, \tag{6.12}$$

which is exactly the same as the instanton partition function for the $\mathcal{N}=2$ vector multiplet [2, 46, 47].

Let us move on to discuss the hypermultiplet, which can be decomposed into a pair of chiral and anti-chiral multiplets. To be precise, the partition functions of the chiral multiplet obtained in Section 4 consists of the contributions from both the chiral and the anti-chiral multiplets. Hence, we expect that the partition function obtained before for the (anti-)chiral multiplet should coincide with the one for the hypermultiplet.

From Eq. (4.5) we read off the partition function on the Ω -background for the fundamental (anti-)chiral multiplet:

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{fun (anti-)chiral}} = \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{p>0} \prod_{q>0} \frac{1}{-q\varepsilon_1 - p\varepsilon_2 + \widetilde{m}_J + \sigma_i}, \qquad (6.13)$$

where now the constants σ_i are given by

$$\sigma_i = -\widetilde{m}_{I_i} + \frac{1}{\ell} m_i \tag{6.14}$$

³We notice that there is a little discrepancy among literatures. Our results are the same as the ones obtained in Ref. [47], which differs from the ones used in Ref. [58] by some shifts of $\varepsilon_{1,2}$.

with the partition of the vortex number m_i :

$$m_i^1 \ge m_i^2 \ge \dots \ge m_i^{l(m_i)} \ge m_i^{l(m_i)+1} = m_i^{l(m_i)+2} = \dots = 0,$$
 (6.15)

and

$$m_i = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} m_i^p, \quad m_i^0 = 0.$$
 (6.16)

Hence, in the p-sector we have

$$\sigma_i = a_i - m_i^p \, \varepsilon_1 \,. \tag{6.17}$$

We perform a regularization for the infinite product (6.13) as follows:

$$Z_{\Omega}^{\text{fun (anti-)chiral}} = \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{p>1} \prod_{q>0} \frac{1}{\hbar(q-p+1) + \widetilde{m}_J + a_i + m_i^p \hbar}, \qquad (6.18)$$

where we have applied $-\varepsilon_1 = \hbar = \varepsilon_2$, and used the expression (6.17) for the constants σ_i in the *p*-sector of the partition (6.15). Moreover, by setting the vortex numbers to zero and applying a regularization similar to Ref. [2], we can also extract the perturbative part of the partition function from Eq. (6.13):

$$\exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{r} \gamma_{\hbar}(\widetilde{m}_J + a_i)\right), \qquad (6.19)$$

which is consistent with the result in Ref. [47], although there is a sign typo there. After subtracting the perturbative contribution from the expression (6.18), what remains is

$$\prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{p\geq 1} \prod_{q\geq 0} \frac{\hbar(q-p+1) + \widetilde{m}_J + a_i}{\hbar(q-p+1) + \widetilde{m}_J + a_i + m_i^p \hbar}$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{p\geq 1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\widetilde{m}_J + a_i}{\hbar} + m_i^p + 1 - p\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\widetilde{m}_J + a_i}{\hbar} + 1 - p\right)}, \tag{6.20}$$

where we have performed a partial regularization using

$$\prod_{q>0} \frac{1}{q+x} \simeq \frac{\Gamma(x)}{\sqrt{2\pi}}.$$
(6.21)

The expression (6.20) is exactly the same as the instanton partition function for the hypermultiplet in the fundamental representation [47].

To summarize, we have made some conjectures for the $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions on the Ω -background based on the results from previous sections on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, and then checked their relation with the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Nekrasov partition functions. These conjectures should be tested using a direct $\mathcal{N}=1$ instanton counting approach in the future.

7 Discussions

In this paper we have discussed 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories on $S^2\times\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, and computed their partition functions using supersymmetric localization. We provided a non-index partition function test for Seiberg duality. Moreover, under some assumptions we have compared our conjectured $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions on the Ω -background with the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Nekrasov partition functions.

We have shown that under reasonable assumptions, the BPS equations admit vortex solutions at the poles of S^2 and at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. We have computed the 1-loop determinants of fluctuations around these configurations. However, the instanton-vortex equations suggest the possibility that point-like instanton solutions may exist. It will be important to further study whether the equations admit extra solutions other than the ones we found, and their contributions to the partition function.

There are some natural generalizations and applications of our work.

- 1. In this paper, we performed the Higgs branch localization and the final result is written as a sum over vortex configurations. We should be able to perform the "Coulomb branch" localization to obtain an integral expression of the partition function.
- 2. The generalization to other backgrounds (e.g. $D^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$, $S^2 \times S^2$) and other matter contents, for instance the anti-fundamental chiral multiplet and the (anti-)symmetric tensor field, should be straightforward. With these new ingredients we can rigorously test more conjectured dualities.
- 3. We hope that our work can shed light on the still-mysterious rigid $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on curved space. For example, it gives us hints to previously intractable cases (e.g. $\mathcal{N}=1$ localization on $S^2 \times S^2$), and also helps us better understand some notoriously hard cases (e.g. $\mathcal{N}=1$ localization on S^4) and conceptual issues like the ambiguity of the sphere partition function [50]. The study can also provide us with more rigorous tests of the AdS/CFT correspondence in the same spirit of [4, 59].
- 4. More mathematically, it would be nice to localize $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories on generic toric 4-manifolds, just like for $\mathcal{N}=2$ gauge theories [60, 61].
- 5. We can compute the partition functions of $\mathcal{N}=1$ superconformal field theories and study their anomalies [62], which complements previous studies using superconformal indices [63, 64].
- 6. Just as the $\mathcal{N}=2$ prepotential can be computed from the Nekrasov partition function, we expect the free energy of our $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition function to be related to the effective superpotential. This should be compared with other approaches such as [65, 66].
- 7. Some $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories flow to known $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories under renormalization group flows. The superconformal indices of the Minahan-Nemeschansky theories [67, 68]

and the Argyres-Douglas theories have been computed in this way [69–71]. By following such RG flows, we can also compute the non-index partition functions of non-Lagrangian theories.

- 8. There have been recent progress in obtaining 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories from 6d $\mathcal{N}=(1,0)$ theory with fluxes [72, 73]. We believe that these new ideas can provide us with a more direct 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ instanton counting. Eventually, we should be able to study the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories directly on the Ω -background based on the recent progress.
- 9. Our results, in particular the relations with the Nekrasov partition functions, can facilitate recent studies on the conjectured $\mathcal{N} = 1$ AGT relation [51, 52].

The topics listed above are under investigation and results will be published elsewhere.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Eoin Ó Colgáin, Nick Dorey, Henriette Elvang, Rouven Frassek, Jie Gu, Song He, Hans Jockers, Olaf Lechtenfeld, Jim Liu, Vladimir Mitev, Satoshi Nawata, Vasily Pestun, Elli Pomoni, Silviu Pufu, Savdeep Sethi, Huajia Wang, Brian Willett, Wenbin Yan, Gang Yang, Hong Zhang, Xinyu Zhang and Yang Zhou for many useful discussions. Special thanks to Jin Chen, Cyril Closset and Sungjay Lee for enlightening discussions that help resolve some key issues in the paper. JN's work was supported in part by the U.S. Department of Energy under grant DE-SC0007859 and by a Van Loo Postdoctoral Fellowship. JN also would like to thank the CERN theory group, the Interdisciplinary Center for Theoretical Study at the University of Science and Technology of China, Tsinghua Sanya International Mathematics Forum, the Institute of Theoretical Physics at Chinese Academy of Sciences, the Korea Institute for Advanced Study, the Leinweber Center for Theoretical Physics and the Riemann Center for Geometry and Physics for hospitality during various stages of this work. PZ would like to thank Leibniz University Hannover, Rutgers University, the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics and the Yau Mathematical Sciences Center for warm hospitality. The work of TK was supported in part by Keio Gijuku Academic Development Funds, JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (No. JP17K18090), MEXT-Supported Program for the Strategic Research Foundation at Private Universities "Topological Science" (No. S1511006), JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas "Topological Materials Science" (No. JP15H05855), and "Discrete Geometric Analysis for Materials Design" (No. JP17H06462).

A Convention

We follow closely the notations introduced in the book by Freedman and Van Proeyen [43]. For the 4d Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^4 , the gamma matrices are chosen to be

$$\Gamma_{\mu} = \sigma_{\mu} \otimes \mathbb{I} \text{ with } \mu \in \{1, 2\}, \quad \Gamma_{3} = \sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{1}, \quad \Gamma_{4} = \sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{2},$$
 (A.1)

where σ_i (i = 1, 2, 3) are the Pauli matrices, which play the role of the 2d gamma matrices. The 4d and the 2d charge conjugation matrices are related by

$$C_4 = C_2 \otimes \sigma_1 \,, \tag{A.2}$$

and they satisfy

$$C_4 \Gamma_M C_4^{-1} = -\Gamma_M^T, \quad C_2 \sigma_\mu C_2^{-1} = -\sigma_\mu^T, \quad C_2 \sigma_3 C_2^{-1} = -\sigma_3^T,$$
 (A.3)

with $M \in \{1, \dots, 4\}$ and $\mu \in \{1, 2\}$. In practice, we can choose C_2 to be $i\sigma_2$. With the choice above, the matrix Γ_5 is given by

$$\Gamma_5 = -\Gamma_1 \, \Gamma_2 \, \Gamma_3 \, \Gamma_4 = \sigma_3 \otimes \sigma_3 \,. \tag{A.4}$$

Moreover, for later convenience we obtain explicitly the following expressions:

$$\Gamma_{\mu\nu} = \sigma_{\mu\nu} \otimes \mathbb{I}, \quad \Gamma_{\mu3} = \sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{1}, \quad \Gamma_{\mu4} = \sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{2}, \quad \Gamma_{34} = \mathbb{I} \otimes i\sigma_{3}.$$
 (A.5)

In this paper, we use both the 4d and the 2d commuting Killing spinors. The 4d commuting spinors satisfy the following Fierz identity:

$$(\bar{\lambda}A\chi)(\bar{\psi}B\varphi) = \frac{1}{4}(\bar{\lambda}AB\varphi)(\bar{\psi}\chi) + \frac{1}{4}(\bar{\lambda}A\Gamma^{M}B\varphi)(\bar{\psi}\Gamma_{M}\chi) - \frac{1}{8}(\bar{\lambda}A\Gamma^{MN}B\varphi)(\bar{\psi}\Gamma_{MN}\chi) - \frac{1}{4}(\bar{\lambda}A\Gamma^{M}\Gamma_{5}B\varphi)(\bar{\psi}\Gamma_{M}\Gamma_{5}\chi) + \frac{1}{4}(\bar{\lambda}A\Gamma_{5}B\varphi)(\bar{\psi}\Gamma_{5}\chi),$$
(A.6)

and the 2d commuting spinors satisfy the following Fierz identity:

$$(\epsilon \eta) \chi = \frac{1}{2} \eta (\epsilon \chi) + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_3 \eta (\epsilon \sigma_3 \chi) + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_\mu \eta (\epsilon \sigma^\mu \chi). \tag{A.7}$$

For the 4d and 2d anti-commuting spinors, the corresponding Fierz identities are just the expressions above with a global minus sign on the right-hand side.

In our convention, the transpose of a bilinear of commuting spinors has an extra minus sign, i.e.,

$$(\epsilon^T M \eta)^T = -\eta^T M^T \epsilon . \tag{A.8}$$

B Killing Spinors on S^2

To define the theory on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ and still preserve $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry, we require that Υ satisfy the following equations:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\Upsilon = \pm \frac{1}{2\ell} \Gamma_{\mu} \Gamma_{5}\Upsilon, \quad \nabla_{z}\Upsilon = 0 = \nabla_{\bar{z}}\Upsilon,$$
 (B.1)

where ℓ denotes the radius of S^2 . In this paper, we make the following choice of the sign:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\Upsilon = \frac{1}{2\ell}\Gamma_{\mu}\Gamma_{5}\Upsilon, \quad \nabla_{z}\Upsilon = 0 = \nabla_{\bar{z}}\Upsilon.$$
 (B.2)

Under the decomposition (2.11), the Killing spinor equations above can be written in terms of the 2d Killing spinors:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = \frac{1}{2\ell}\sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3}\,\epsilon\,, \quad \nabla_{z}\epsilon = 0 = \nabla_{\bar{z}}\epsilon\,,$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\tilde{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{2\ell}\sigma_{\mu}\sigma_{3}\,\tilde{\epsilon}\,, \quad \nabla_{z}\tilde{\epsilon} = 0 = \nabla_{\bar{z}}\tilde{\epsilon}\,,$$
(B.3)

where ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ are Killing spinors on S^2 .

The Killing spinor equation on S^2 has an alternative expression:

$$\nabla_{\mu} \epsilon'_{\pm} = \pm \frac{i}{2\ell} \sigma_{\mu} \epsilon'_{\pm} \,. \tag{B.4}$$

The general solution ϵ'_{+} is given by

$$\epsilon'_{+} = b_1 e^{-i\frac{\varphi}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \sin\frac{\theta}{2} \\ -i\cos\frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix} + b_2 e^{i\frac{\varphi}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\frac{\theta}{2} \\ i\sin\frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{B.5}$$

where b_1 and b_2 are two complex constants. The other solution ϵ'_- can be obtained by $\epsilon'_- = \sigma_3 \epsilon'_+$. The conjugate spinors $\epsilon'^c \equiv C_2^{-1} \epsilon'^*$ satisfies

$$\nabla_{\mu} \epsilon^{\prime c} = \mp \frac{i}{2\ell} \sigma_{\mu} \epsilon^{\prime c} \,. \tag{B.6}$$

Moreover, $\sigma_3 \epsilon'$ satisfies the same equations above as ϵ'^c .

From the Killing spinors ϵ'_{\pm} on S^2 satisfying (B.4), one can construct

$$\epsilon_{+} = (\mathbb{I} + i\sigma_3)\epsilon'_{+}, \tag{B.7}$$

which satisfy the other Killing spinor equations (B.3) on S^2 .

C 2D $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Supersymmetry

C.1 Vector Multiplet

As discussed in Subsection 2.2, under certain assumptions we can rewrite the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry in terms of 2d fields with $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry, similar to the one studied in Refs. [33, 34, 42].

The index μ denotes the coordinates along the S^2 -direction, while $z=x_3+ix_4$ and $\bar{z}=x_3-ix_4$ denote the \mathbb{R}^2 directions. The fields in the 4d vector multiplet can be decomposed into the 2d fields in the following way:

$$A_M \to A_\mu \text{ with } \mu \in \{1, 2\}, A_z = \frac{1}{2}(A_3 - iA_4), A_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(A_3 + iA_4),$$
 (C.1)

$$\Xi = \lambda \otimes \zeta_{+} + \widetilde{\lambda} \otimes \zeta_{-}. \tag{C.2}$$

In principle, these 2d fields also depend on the coordinates (z, \bar{z}) along the \mathbb{R}^2 directions, which implies their origin of the 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry constructed Section 2. However, we can further require that they are independent of the coordinates (z, \bar{z}) , then

we will obtain a 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ supersymmetry, similar to the one from dimensional reduction. Under these assumptions, we obtain the supersymmetry transformations for the vector multiplet on \mathbb{R}^4 as follows:

$$\begin{split} \delta A_{\mu} &= -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_{\mu} \widetilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_{\mu} \lambda \,, \\ \delta A_z &= -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 \lambda \,, \\ \delta A_{\bar{z}} &= -\frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \widetilde{\lambda} \,, \\ \delta \lambda &= \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} \epsilon + F_{\mu z} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 \widetilde{\epsilon} + F_{z\bar{z}} \, \epsilon + \frac{i}{2} D \sigma_3 \, \epsilon \,, \\ \delta \widetilde{\lambda} &= \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\epsilon} + F_{\mu\bar{z}} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 \epsilon - F_{z\bar{z}} \, \widetilde{\epsilon} - \frac{i}{2} D \sigma_3 \, \widetilde{\epsilon} \,, \\ \delta D &= -\frac{i}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \widetilde{\lambda} + \frac{i}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \lambda - i \epsilon^T C_2 D_{\bar{z}} \lambda + i \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 D_{z} \widetilde{\lambda} \,, \end{split}$$

$$(C.3)$$

where the auxiliary field D is assumed to be anti-hermitian. These transformations on \mathbb{R}^4 satisfy the following SUSY algebra relations:

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \, \delta_{\epsilon_2}\} = 0 = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_1}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_2}\},\,$$
 (C.4)

and

$$\begin{aligned}
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} A_{\mu} &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu} - D_{\mu} (\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}) \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} A_{z} &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} A_{z} - D_{z} (\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}) \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} A_{\tilde{z}} &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} A_{\tilde{z}} - D_{\tilde{z}} (\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}) \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} \lambda &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} \lambda + [\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}, \, \lambda] \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} \widetilde{\lambda} &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} \widetilde{\lambda} + [\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}, \, \widetilde{\lambda}] \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} D &= \xi^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} D + [\xi^{\nu} A_{\nu}, \, D] \,,
\end{aligned}$$
(C.5)

where

$$\xi^{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma^{\mu} \epsilon) \,. \tag{C.6}$$

To obtain these commutation relations, we use the fact that ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ are two independent solutions to the same 2d Killing spinor equation, and

$$\epsilon_1 \propto \epsilon_2, \quad \tilde{\epsilon}_1 \propto \tilde{\epsilon}_2,$$
(C.7)

which are all constant spinors for \mathbb{R}^2 . Moreover, we need the Fierz identity for the 2d commuting spinors (A.7).

To define a consistent supersymmetry on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, we first see that the transformations (C.3) on \mathbb{R}^4 do not form a closed algebra on the space $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. To obtain a closed algebra, we have to add additional terms to $\delta\lambda$, $\delta\tilde{\lambda}$ and δD , which are

$$\delta' \lambda = -b A_z \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 D_{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon} ,$$

$$\delta' \tilde{\lambda} = -\tilde{b} A_{\bar{z}} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 D_{\mu} \epsilon ,$$

$$\delta' D = \frac{i\tilde{a}}{2} (D_{\mu} \epsilon)^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\lambda} - \frac{ia}{2} (D_{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon})^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} \lambda ,$$
(C.8)

while the other transformations remain the same. Moreover, due to the non-trivial 2d Killing spinor equations there are some additional terms appearing in $\delta F_{\mu\nu}$, $\delta F_{\mu z}$ and $\delta F_{\mu\bar{z}}$. By requiring the closure of the algebra on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, one can fix the constants in the additional terms $\delta'\lambda$, $\delta'\tilde{\lambda}$ and $\delta'D$ to be

$$a = \tilde{a} = b = \tilde{b} = -1. \tag{C.9}$$

Hence, the new SUSY transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ become

$$\begin{split} \delta A_{\mu} &= -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_{\mu} \widetilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_{\mu} \lambda \,, \\ \delta A_z &= -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 \lambda \,, \\ \delta A_{\bar{z}} &= -\frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \widetilde{\lambda} \,, \\ \delta \lambda &= \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} \epsilon + F_{\mu z} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 \widetilde{\epsilon} + F_{z\bar{z}} \, \epsilon + \frac{i}{2} D \sigma_3 \, \epsilon + A_z \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 D_{\mu} \widetilde{\epsilon} \,, \\ \delta \widetilde{\lambda} &= \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} \, \sigma^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\epsilon} + F_{\mu\bar{z}} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 \epsilon - F_{z\bar{z}} \, \widetilde{\epsilon} - \frac{i}{2} D \sigma_3 \, \widetilde{\epsilon} + A_{\bar{z}} \sigma^{\mu} \sigma_3 D_{\mu} \epsilon \,, \\ \delta D &= -\frac{i}{2} \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \widetilde{\lambda} + \frac{i}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \lambda - i \epsilon^T C_2 D_{\bar{z}} \lambda + i \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 D_{z} \widetilde{\lambda} \\ &- \frac{i}{2} (D_{\mu} \epsilon)^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} \widetilde{\lambda} + \frac{i}{2} (D_{\mu} \widetilde{\epsilon})^T C_2 \sigma_3 \sigma^{\mu} \lambda \,. \end{split}$$

The commutation relations of these transformations on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ are

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \, \delta_{\epsilon_2}\} = 0 = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_1}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_2}\},$$
 (C.11)

and

$$\begin{aligned}
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}A_{u} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}A_{u} - D_{u}\left(\xi^{M}A_{M}\right) + \alpha A_{u}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}A_{\bar{u}} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}A_{\bar{u}} - D_{\bar{u}}\left(\xi^{M}A_{M}\right) - \alpha A_{\bar{u}}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}A_{z} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}A_{z} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, A_{z}\right] + \rho A_{z}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}A_{\bar{z}} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}A_{\bar{z}} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, A_{\bar{z}}\right] - \rho A_{\bar{z}}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{L}\lambda = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{L}\lambda + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\lambda\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\lambda\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{R}\tilde{\lambda} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{R}\tilde{\lambda} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\tilde{\lambda}\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\tilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\tilde{\lambda}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{R}\lambda = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{R}\lambda + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\lambda\right] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\lambda\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{L}\tilde{\lambda} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{L}\tilde{\lambda} + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\tilde{\lambda}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\tilde{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\tilde{\lambda}\,, \\
&\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}D = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}D + \left[\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, D\right]\,.
\end{aligned}$$
(C.12)

C.2 Gauged (Anti-)Chiral Multiplet

Similar to the vector multiplet, we apply the following decomposition of the spinor to the chiral multiplet:

$$\Psi = \psi \otimes \zeta_{+} + \widetilde{\psi} \otimes \zeta_{-}. \tag{C.13}$$

Consequently,

$$P_L \Psi = P_L \psi \otimes \zeta_+ + P_R \widetilde{\psi} \otimes \zeta_- \,, \tag{C.14}$$

where P_L on the left-hand side denotes the 4d projection operator, while $P_{L,R}$ on the right-hand side stand for the 2d projection operators.

Unlike in the main text, now we assume that the 2d fields are independent of the coordinates (z, \bar{z}) along the \mathbb{R}^2 directions, then we will obtain a 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry, similar to the one from dimensional reduction. Under these assumptions, we obtain the SUSY transformations for the chiral multiplet on \mathbb{R}^4 in terms of the 2d fields:

$$\delta\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_L \psi + \epsilon^T C_2 P_R \widetilde{\psi}),$$

$$\delta P_L \psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu \epsilon) D_\mu \phi + \sqrt{2} (P_L \tilde{\epsilon}) D_z \phi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \epsilon) F,$$

$$\delta P_R \widetilde{\psi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu \tilde{\epsilon}) D_\mu \phi - \sqrt{2} (P_R \epsilon) D_{\bar{z}} \phi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \tilde{\epsilon}) F,$$

$$\delta F = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_L \psi + \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_R \widetilde{\psi}) + \sqrt{2} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_z P_R \widetilde{\psi} + \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_{\bar{z}} P_L \psi)$$

$$- (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_R \lambda + \epsilon^T C_2 P_L \widetilde{\lambda}) \phi,$$
(C.15)

where ϕ and F denote the 2d scalar field and the auxiliary field respectively, and the 2d projection operators are in Eq. (2.29).

The transformations above satisfy the following commutation relations:

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \, \delta_{\epsilon_2}\} = 0 = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_1}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_2}\},$$
 (C.16)

and

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\phi = \xi^{\mu}D_{\mu}\phi \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\psi = \xi^{\mu}D_{\mu}\psi \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\widetilde{\psi} = \xi^{\mu}D_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi} \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}F = \xi^{\mu}D_{\mu}F \,.$$
(C.17)

In order to define the chiral multiplet consistently on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, similar to the vector multiplet, we have to introduce some additional terms to the transformations $\delta \psi$, $\delta \widetilde{\psi}$ and δF :

$$\delta' \psi = -\frac{c}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu D_\mu \epsilon) \phi ,$$

$$\delta' \widetilde{\psi} = -\frac{\tilde{c}}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu D_\mu \tilde{\epsilon}) \phi ,$$

$$\delta' F = -\frac{d}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \tilde{\epsilon})^T C_2 \sigma^\mu \psi - \frac{\tilde{d}}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \epsilon)^T C_2 \sigma^\mu \widetilde{\psi} ,$$
(C.18)

while the transformation $\delta \phi$ remains the same as Eq. (C.15). By requiring the closure of the SUSY algebra, one can fix the constants c, \tilde{c} , d and \tilde{d} :

$$c = \tilde{c} = d = \tilde{d} = -q, \qquad (C.19)$$

where q is a constant. Therefore, the SUSY transformations of the chiral multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ become

$$\delta\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_L \psi + \epsilon^T C_2 P_R \widetilde{\psi}),$$

$$\delta P_L \psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu \epsilon) D_\mu \phi + \sqrt{2} (P_L \tilde{\epsilon}) D_z \phi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \epsilon) F + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu D_\mu \epsilon) \phi,$$

$$\delta P_R \widetilde{\psi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu \tilde{\epsilon}) D_\mu \phi - \sqrt{2} (P_R \epsilon) D_{\bar{z}} \phi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \tilde{\epsilon}) F + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu D_\mu \tilde{\epsilon}) \phi,$$

$$\delta F = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_L \psi + \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_R \widetilde{\psi}) + \sqrt{2} (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_z P_R \widetilde{\psi} + \epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_{\bar{z}} P_L \psi) - (\tilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_R \lambda + \epsilon^T C_2 P_L \widetilde{\lambda}) \phi + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \tilde{\epsilon})^T C_2 \sigma^\mu P_L \psi + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \epsilon)^T C_2 \sigma^\mu P_R \widetilde{\psi}.$$
(C.20)

The corresponding commutation relations are

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \, \delta_{\epsilon_2}\} = 0 = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_1}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_2}\},$$
 (C.21)

and

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\phi = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\phi + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, \phi] \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{L}\psi = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{L}\psi + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\psi] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\psi \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\widetilde{\psi}] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\widetilde{\psi} \,,$$

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}F = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}F + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, F] \,,$$
(C.22)

where ξ^M , ρ and α are defined the same as before.

For the anti-chiral multiplet $(\bar{\Phi}, P_R \Psi, \bar{F})$ on \mathbb{R}^4 , the SUSY transformations are given by Eqs. (2.36). We can apply the same decomposition (C.13) and consequently

$$P_R \Psi = P_R \psi \otimes \zeta_+ + P_L \widetilde{\psi} \otimes \zeta_-. \tag{C.23}$$

Different from the main text, if we assume that these 2d fields are independent of the coordinates (z, \bar{z}) along the \mathbb{R}^2 directions, we obtain the SUSY transformations for the anti-chiral multiplet on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} \delta\bar{\phi} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\epsilon^T C_2 P_L \widetilde{\psi} + \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_R \psi) \,, \\ \delta P_R \psi &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu \epsilon) D_\mu \bar{\phi} - \sqrt{2} (P_R \widetilde{\epsilon}) D_z \bar{\phi} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \epsilon) \bar{F} + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (P_R \sigma^\mu D_\mu \epsilon) \bar{\phi} \,, \\ \delta P_L \widetilde{\psi} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu \widetilde{\epsilon}) D_\mu \bar{\phi} + \sqrt{2} (P_L \epsilon) D_{\bar{z}} \bar{\phi} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \widetilde{\epsilon}) \bar{F} + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (P_L \sigma^\mu D_\mu \widetilde{\epsilon}) \bar{\phi} \,, \\ \delta \bar{F} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\epsilon^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_L \widetilde{\psi} + \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma^\mu D_\mu P_R \psi) + \sqrt{2} (\epsilon^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_{\bar{z}} P_R \psi + \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 \sigma_3 D_z P_L \widetilde{\psi}) \\ &- (\epsilon^T C_2 P_R \widetilde{\lambda} + \widetilde{\epsilon}^T C_2 P_L \lambda) \bar{\phi} + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \epsilon)^T C_2 \sigma^\mu P_L \widetilde{\psi} + \frac{q}{\sqrt{2}} (D_\mu \widetilde{\epsilon})^T C_2 \sigma^\mu P_R \psi \,. \end{split}$$
(C.24)

The transformations satisfy the commutation relations:

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \, \delta_{\epsilon_2}\} = 0 = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_1}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_2}\},\,$$
 (C.25)

and

$$\begin{aligned}
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\bar{\phi} &= \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\bar{\phi} + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \,\bar{\phi}] \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{R}\psi &= \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{R}\psi + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{R}\psi] - \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{R}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{R}\psi \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} &= \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \, P_{L}\widetilde{\psi}] + \frac{1}{2}\alpha P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2}\rho P_{L}\widetilde{\psi} \,, \\
\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\}\bar{F} &= \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\bar{F} + [\xi^{M}A_{M}, \,\bar{F}] \,.
\end{aligned} (C.26)$$

D BPS Equations and Classical Solutions

Using the explicit expressions of the commuting Killing spinors (2.43), we obtain the following identities for the commuting Killing spinors Σ and $\widetilde{\Sigma}$, which are useful in computing the δ -exact part of the action in Subsection 3.1:

$$\begin{split} \Sigma^\dagger \Sigma &= \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \widetilde{\Sigma} = 2 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Sigma = \Sigma^\dagger \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} = -2 \cos \theta \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_5 \Sigma = \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_M \Sigma &= \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_M \widetilde{\Sigma} = -2 \sin \theta \, \delta_{M1} \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_M \Sigma = \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_M \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_M \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= -\widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_M \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} = -2i \sin \theta \, \delta_{M2} \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_M \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 2 \sin \theta \, e^{-i\varphi} \, \delta_{M3} + 2i \sin \theta \, e^{-i\varphi} \, \delta_{M4} \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_M \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} &= -2 \sin \theta \, e^{i\varphi} \, \delta_{M3} + 2i \sin \theta \, e^{i\varphi} \, \delta_{M4} \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Sigma &= -2i \cos \theta \, \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu a} \Sigma = 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Sigma_{34} \Sigma = 2i \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma} &= 2i \cos \theta \, \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu a} \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \widetilde{\Sigma} = -2i \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma} &= 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma} &= 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma} &= 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma} &= 2i \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu a} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = -2i \cos \theta \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 2i \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu a} \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \widetilde{\Sigma} = 2i \cos \theta \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu a} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{34} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\mu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\mu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma &= 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger \Gamma_{\mu\nu} \Gamma_5 \Sigma = 0 \,, \\ \widetilde{\Sigma}^\dagger$$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\mu\nu}\Gamma_{5}\widetilde{\Sigma} &= 0 \,, \quad \Sigma^{\dagger}\Gamma_{34}\Gamma_{5}\widetilde{\Sigma} = 0 \,, \\ \Sigma^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\mu a}\Gamma_{5}\widetilde{\Sigma} &= \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 2\,e^{i\varphi}\,\delta_{\mu 1} + 2i\cos\theta\,e^{i\varphi}\,\delta_{\mu 2} \,, & \text{for } a = 3 \,, \\ -2i\,e^{i\varphi}\,\delta_{\mu 1} + 2\cos\theta\,e^{i\varphi}\,\delta_{\mu 2} \,, & \text{for } a = 4 \,. \end{array} \right. \end{split}$$

By applying the identities above, we obtain the δ -exact part of the action (3.7) and consequently the BPS equations (3.11) \sim (3.14). In Subsection 3.2, we have discussed how to obtain the classical solutions to some of the BPS equations. In the following of this appendix, we focus on Eq. (3.22):

$$F_{12} - g_{YM}^2(|\Phi^I|^2 - \eta) = 0 (D.2)$$

and one of the equations in Eq. (3.14):

$$D_{\bar{u}}\Phi^I = 0, (D.3)$$

and we discuss their (anti-)vortex solutions.

First, in the explicit coordinates Eqs. (D.2) and (D.3) become

$$\frac{1}{\ell^2 \sin \theta} F_{\theta \varphi} - g_{YM}^2 (|\Phi^I|^2 - \eta) = 0,$$
 (D.4)

$$\left[\frac{1}{\ell}\partial_{\theta} + \frac{i}{\sin\theta}(\partial_{\varphi} + iA_{\varphi} + i\widetilde{A}_{\varphi}^{I}) - \frac{\varepsilon}{\sin\theta}w\,\partial_{w} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\sin\theta}\bar{w}\,\partial_{\bar{w}}\right]\Phi^{I} = 0.$$
 (D.5)

In Section 3.2, we have considered the vortex solution throughout the whole S^2 , but we have also mentioned that there can be a configuration with a vortex solution at the north pole and an anti-vortex solution at the south pole. In this appendix let us consider this configuration in detail. To obtain the (anti-)vortex solutions (3.26) (3.27), we try to solve these two equations in different regions:

• $\theta \approx 0$ (near the core of the vortex at the north pole):

In this case, we consider a vortex solution located at the north pole of S^2 and at the same time at the origin of \mathbb{R}^2 . The vortex solution is given by

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq (\theta e^{i\varphi})^{m} w^{k}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - k \ell \varepsilon \quad (k \ge 0),$$
(D.6)

where $k \geq 0$ is required by the regularity of the solution at w = 0. They solve Eq. (D.5) exactly. For Eq. (D.4), to ensure a non-vanishing field strength at the north pole, we need to tune the FI paramter $\eta \to \infty$, which corresponds to a point-like vortex. The explicit form of the field strength $F_{\theta\varphi}$ is irrelevant.

• $\theta \approx \pi$ (near the core of the anti-vortex at the south pole):

In this case, we consider an anti-vortex solution located at the south pole of S^2 and at the same time at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. The anti-vortex solution is given by

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq (\hat{\theta} e^{i\varphi})^{n} \bar{w}^{k'}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \tilde{m}_{I} + k' \ell \varepsilon \quad (k' \ge 0),$$
(D.7)

where $\hat{\theta} \equiv \pi - \theta$, and $k' \geq 0$ is required by the regularity of the solution at w = 0. Similar to the previous case, they solve Eq. (D.5) exactly, and for Eq. (D.4) one has to tune the FI paramter $\eta \to \infty$, which corresponds to a point-like anti-vortex at the south pole.

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the northern hemisphere far from the core of the vortex): In this case, we consider the solution on the northern hemisphere far from the core of the vortex located at the north pole of S^2 , which is given by

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{im\varphi} w^{k}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \widetilde{m}_{I} - m - k\ell \varepsilon \quad (k \ge 0).$$
(D.8)

They solve Eq. (D.5) exactly, but cannot solve Eq. (D.4) exactly unless k = 0.

• $\theta \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$ (on the southern hemisphere far from the core of the anti-vortex): In this case, we consider the solution on the southern hemisphere far from the core of the anti-vortex located at the south pole of S^2 , which is given by

$$\Phi^{I} \simeq \sqrt{\eta} e^{in\varphi} \bar{w}^{k'}, \quad A_{\varphi} \simeq \ell \tilde{m}_{I} - n + k' \ell \varepsilon \quad (k' \ge 0).$$
(D.9)

They solve Eq. (D.5) exactly, but cannot solve Eq. (D.4) exactly unless k' = 0.

Comparing the solutions of the last two cases, we find that in order to glue the solutions from the two hemispheres together, regularity requires that

$$k = k' = 0, (D.10)$$

which is consistent with the requirement discussed before that the solutions solve Eq. (D.4) exactly at k = k' = 0. Hence, a vortex solution located at the north pole of S^2 and an anti-vortex solution located at the south pole of S^2 can be glued together through a gauge transformation along the equator $(\theta = \frac{\pi}{2})$, but these configurations are trivial on the $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ -plane.

E 1-Loop Determinants via Index Theorem

In this appendix, we apply the index theorem to compute the 1-loop determinant of the partition function around the classical solutions. The method is similar to the one used in Refs. [33, 35, 36].

First, the complex coordinate w on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ can be parametrized as

$$w = r e^{i\psi} . (E.1)$$

From Eqs. (2.48) and (2.56) we see that the square of the supersymmetry that we constructed on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ is

$$\delta^{2} = -\frac{1}{\ell} \partial_{\varphi} - \varepsilon \partial_{\psi} + i \cos\varphi \sin\theta (\partial_{w} + \partial_{\bar{w}}) - \sin\varphi \sin\theta (\partial_{w} - \partial_{\bar{w}})$$

$$+ \Lambda - \frac{i}{\ell} \cos\theta J_{s}^{u} - \frac{i}{2} (\varepsilon - \frac{1}{\ell}) R_{2} + i \mathcal{F}_{I} \widetilde{m}_{I},$$
(E.2)

which has fixed points $(\theta, w) = (0, 0)$ and $(\pi, 0)$, corresponding to the north and the south poles of S^2 together with the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$. Hence, we can consider the indices at these fixed points to obtain the 1-loop determinants.

First, the term $-\varepsilon \partial_{\psi}$ in the algebra (E.2) generates a rotation on $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ around the origin, which contributes a sum $\sum_{p\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{-ip\varepsilon}$ to the index.

For the chiral multiplet, at the north pole $(\theta = 0)$ the SUSY transformation is of the form $D_{\theta} + \frac{i}{\theta}D_{\varphi} \sim D_{\bar{u}}$ with $u = \theta e^{i\varphi}$. The index is the one for the Dolbeault operator with inverted grading, i.e. -1/(1-u). Hence, by expanding -1/(1-u) in terms of $t = e^{i\varphi}$ and using the equivariant parameter $-1/\ell$, we obtain the index for the chiral multiplet at the north pole:

$$\operatorname{ind}_{N}^{\operatorname{chiral}} = -\sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-ip\varepsilon} \sum_{q > 0} e^{-iq/\ell} e^{-i(\varepsilon - 1/\ell)R_2/2} e^{i\mathcal{F}_J \widetilde{m}_J} e^{\Lambda_N}, \qquad (E.3)$$

where J denotes an arbitrary flavor, and

$$\Lambda_N = -\frac{i}{\ell} A_{\varphi} = -i \mathcal{F}_I \widetilde{m}_I + \frac{i}{\ell} m + i k \varepsilon, \qquad (E.4)$$

with m and k denoting the numbers of vortices located at the north pole of S^2 and at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ respectively.

Similarly, at the south pole $(\theta = \pi)$, the SUSY transformation is of the form $D_{\hat{\theta}} + \frac{i}{\hat{\theta}}D_{\varphi} \sim D_{\bar{u}}$ with $\hat{\theta} = \pi - \theta$ and $u = \hat{\theta}\,e^{i\varphi}$. The index is still the one for the Dolbeault operator with inverted grading, i.e. -1/(1-u). Hence, by expanding -1/(1-u) in terms of $t = e^{-i\varphi}$ and using the equivariant parameter $-1/\ell$, we obtain the index for the chiral multiplet at the south pole:

$$\operatorname{ind}_{S}^{\operatorname{chiral}} = \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ip\varepsilon} \sum_{q \ge 1} e^{iq/\ell} e^{-i(\varepsilon - 1/\ell)R_2/2} e^{i\mathcal{F}_J \widetilde{m}_J} e^{\Lambda_S}, \qquad (E.5)$$

where J denotes an arbitrary flavor, and

$$\Lambda_S = -\frac{i}{\ell} A_{\varphi} = -i \mathcal{F}_I \widetilde{m}_I + \frac{i}{\ell} n + i k \varepsilon , \qquad (E.6)$$

with n and k denoting the number of vortices located at the south pole of S^2 and at the origin of $\mathbb{R}^2_{\varepsilon}$ respectively. Both the index at the north pole (E.3) and the index at the south pole (E.5) are generalized to the non-Abelian case, which are Eqs. (4.1) and (4.3) respectively.

For the vector multiplet, its index is given by the one of the de Rham operator. Hence, we obtain the indices at the north and the south poles as follows:

$$\operatorname{ind}_{N}^{\operatorname{vec}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\vec{\sigma} \in \Delta_{C}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-ip\varepsilon} e^{i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{N}}, \quad \operatorname{ind}_{S}^{\operatorname{vec}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\vec{\sigma} \in \Delta_{C}} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ip\varepsilon} e^{i\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{\sigma}^{S}}, \quad (E.7)$$

where $\vec{\alpha}$ denotes the root vectors of the gauge group, and the constants $\vec{\sigma}^{N,S}$ are given by Eqs. (4.2) and (4.4).

F Special Functions

In this appendix let us summarize some relevant facts about the double gamma function $\Gamma_2(x|\varepsilon_1,\varepsilon_2)$ from the math literature.

First, the Barnes double zeta function is defined as

$$\zeta_2(s; x | \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} t^s \frac{e^{-tx}}{(1 - e^{-\varepsilon_1 t})(1 - e^{-\varepsilon_2 t})}. \tag{F.1}$$

The double gamma function is then defined as

$$\Gamma_2(x|\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) = \exp\frac{d}{ds} \Big|_0 \zeta_2(s; x|\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2).$$
 (F.2)

The function $\zeta_2(s; x|\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ can be viewed as the regularization of the infinite sum:

$$\zeta_2(s; x | \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) = \sum_{m,n \ge 0} (x + m\varepsilon_1 + n\varepsilon_2)^{-s}.$$
 (F.3)

The function $\Gamma_2(x|\varepsilon_1,\varepsilon_2)$ is analytic in x except at the poles

$$x = -(m\varepsilon_1 + n\varepsilon_2) \quad (m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}). \tag{F.4}$$

Hence, $\Gamma_2(x|\varepsilon_1,\varepsilon_2)$ can be viewed as a regularized infinite product depending on the signs of ε_1 , ε_2 :

$$\Gamma_{2}(x|\varepsilon_{1},\varepsilon_{2}) \propto \begin{cases} \prod_{m,n\geq 0} (x+m\varepsilon_{1}+n\varepsilon_{2})^{-1}, & \text{for } \varepsilon_{1}>0, \varepsilon_{2}>0; \\ \prod_{m,n\geq 0} (x+m\varepsilon_{1}-(n+1)\varepsilon_{2}), & \text{for } \varepsilon_{1}>0, \varepsilon_{2}<0; \\ \prod_{m,n\geq 0} (x-(m+1)\varepsilon_{1}+n\varepsilon_{2}), & \text{for } \varepsilon_{1}<0, \varepsilon_{2}>0; \\ \prod_{m,n\geq 0} (x-(m+1)\varepsilon_{1}-(n+1)\varepsilon_{2})^{-1}, & \text{for } \varepsilon_{1}<0, \varepsilon_{2}<0. \end{cases}$$
(F.5)

References

- [1] V. Pestun *et al.*, "Localization techniques in quantum field theories," *J. Phys.* **A50** no. 44, (2017) 440301, arXiv:1608.02952 [hep-th].
- [2] N. A. Nekrasov, "Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* 7 no. 5, (2003) 831–864, arXiv:hep-th/0206161 [hep-th].
- [3] V. Pestun, "Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **313** (2012) 71–129, arXiv:0712.2824 [hep-th].
- [4] N. Bobev, H. Elvang, U. Kol, T. Olson, and S. S. Pufu, "Holography for $\mathcal{N}=1^*$ on S^4 ," JHEP 10 (2016) 095, arXiv:1605.00656 [hep-th].
- [5] A. Gorantis, J. A. Minahan, and U. Naseer, "Analytic continuation of dimensions in supersymmetric localization," *JHEP* **02** (2018) 070, arXiv:1711.05669 [hep-th].
- [6] S. Terashima, "A Localization Computation in Confining Phase," JHEP 03 (2015) 097, arXiv:1410.3630 [hep-th].
- [7] G. Knodel, J. T. Liu, and L. A. Pando Zayas, "On $\mathcal{N}=1$ partition functions without R-symmetry," *JHEP* **03** (2015) 132, arXiv:1412.4804 [hep-th].

- [8] G. Festuccia and N. Seiberg, "Rigid Supersymmetric Theories in Curved Superspace," *JHEP* **06** (2011) 114, arXiv:1105.0689 [hep-th].
- [9] C. Klare, A. Tomasiello, and A. Zaffaroni, "Supersymmetry on Curved Spaces and Holography," *JHEP* 08 (2012) 061, arXiv:1205.1062 [hep-th].
- [10] T. T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, and N. Seiberg, "Exploring Curved Superspace," *JHEP* 08 (2012) 141, arXiv:1205.1115 [hep-th].
- [11] C. Closset, T. T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, and Z. Komargodski, "The Geometry of Supersymmetric Partition Functions," *JHEP* **01** (2014) 124, arXiv:1309.5876 [hep-th].
- [12] C. Closset and I. Shamir, "The $\mathcal{N}=1$ Chiral Multiplet on $T^2\times S^2$ and Supersymmetric Localization," *JHEP* **03** (2014) 040, arXiv:1311.2430 [hep-th].
- [13] B. Assel, D. Cassani, and D. Martelli, "Localization on Hopf surfaces," *JHEP* 08 (2014) 123, arXiv:1405.5144 [hep-th].
- [14] C. Closset, T. T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, and Z. Komargodski, "From Rigid Supersymmetry to Twisted Holomorphic Theories," *Phys. Rev.* D90 no. 8, (2014) 085006, arXiv:1407.2598 [hep-th].
- [15] T. Nishioka and I. Yaakov, "Generalized indices for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories in four-dimensions," JHEP 12 (2014) 150, arXiv:1407.8520 [hep-th].
- [16] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, "A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories," *JHEP* **07** (2015) 127, arXiv:1504.03698 [hep-th].
- [17] M. Honda and Y. Yoshida, "Supersymmetric index on $T^2 \times S^2$ and elliptic genus," arXiv:1504.04355 [hep-th].
- [18] A. Gadde, S. S. Razamat, and B. Willett, "On the reduction of 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on \mathbb{S}^2 ," *JHEP* 11 (2015) 163, arXiv:1506.08795 [hep-th].
- [19] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, "Supersymmetric partition functions on Riemann surfaces," *Proc. Symp. Pure Math.* **96** (2017) 13–46, arXiv:1605.06120 [hep-th].
- [20] C. Closset, H. Kim, and B. Willett, " $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric indices and the four-dimensional A-model," *JHEP* **08** (2017) 090, arXiv:1707.05774 [hep-th].
- [21] C. Romelsberger, "Counting chiral primaries in $\mathcal{N}=1$, d=4 superconformal field theories," Nucl. Phys. **B747** (2006) 329–353, arXiv:hep-th/0510060 [hep-th].
- [22] J. Kinney, J. M. Maldacena, S. Minwalla, and S. Raju, "An Index for 4 dimensional super conformal theories," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 275 (2007) 209-254, arXiv:hep-th/0510251 [hep-th].
- [23] T. Fujimori, T. Kimura, M. Nitta, and K. Ohashi, "2d partition function in Ω-background and vortex/instanton correspondence," *JHEP* 12 (2015) 110, arXiv:1509.08630 [hep-th].
- [24] N. Dorey, "The BPS spectra of two-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories with twisted mass terms," JHEP 9811 (1998) 005, hep-th/9806056.
- [25] N. Dorey, T. J. Hollowood, and D. Tong, "The BPS spectra of gauge theories in two-dimensions and four-dimensions," JHEP 9905 (1999) 006, arXiv:hep-th/9902134 [hep-th].
- [26] A. Hanany and D. Tong, "Vortices, instantons and branes," JHEP 07 (2003) 037, arXiv:hep-th/0306150 [hep-th].

- [27] M. Shifman and A. Yung, "NonAbelian string junctions as confined monopoles," *Phys. Rev.* **D70** (2004) 045004, arXiv:hep-th/0403149 [hep-th].
- [28] A. Hanany and D. Tong, "Vortex strings and four-dimensional gauge dynamics," *JHEP* **04** (2004) 066, arXiv:hep-th/0403158 [hep-th].
- [29] N. Dorey, S. Lee, and T. J. Hollowood, "Quantization of Integrable Systems and a 2d/4d Duality," *JHEP* 10 (2011) 077, arXiv:1103.5726 [hep-th].
- [30] S. Shadchin, "On F-term contribution to effective action," *JHEP* **08** (2007) 052, arXiv:hep-th/0611278 [hep-th].
- [31] T. Kawano and N. Matsumiya, "5D SYM on 3D Sphere and 2D YM," *Phys. Lett.* **B716** (2012) 450–453, arXiv:1206.5966 [hep-th].
- [32] S. Lee and M. Yamazaki, "3d Chern-Simons Theory from M5-branes," *JHEP* 12 (2013) 035, arXiv:1305.2429 [hep-th].
- [33] F. Benini and S. Cremonesi, "Partition Functions of $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ Gauge Theories on S^2 and Vortices," Commun. Math. Phys. **334** no. 3, (2015) 1483–1527, arXiv:1206.2356 [hep-th].
- [34] N. Doroud, J. Gomis, B. Le Floch, and S. Lee, "Exact Results in D=2 Supersymmetric Gauge Theories," *JHEP* **05** (2013) 093, arXiv:1206.2606 [hep-th].
- [35] F. Benini and W. Peelaers, "Higgs branch localization in three dimensions," *JHEP* **05** (2014) 030, arXiv:1312.6078 [hep-th].
- [36] W. Peelaers, "Higgs branch localization of $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on $S^3\times S^1$," *JHEP* **08** (2014) 060, arXiv:1403.2711 [hep-th].
- [37] H.-Y. Chen and T.-H. Tsai, "On Higgs branch localization of Seiberg-Witten theories on an ellipsoid," *PTEP* **2016** no. 1, (2016) 013B09, arXiv:1506.04390 [hep-th].
- [38] Y. Pan and W. Peelaers, "Ellipsoid partition function from Seiberg-Witten monopoles," *JHEP* **10** (2015) 183, arXiv:1508.07329 [hep-th].
- [39] C. Romelsberger, "Calculating the Superconformal Index and Seiberg Duality," arXiv:0707.3702 [hep-th].
- [40] F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn, "Applications of the Superconformal Index for Protected Operators and q-Hypergeometric Identities to $\mathcal{N}=1$ Dual Theories," Nucl. Phys. B818 (2009) 137–178, arXiv:0801.4947 [hep-th].
- [41] V. P. Spiridonov and G. S. Vartanov, "Elliptic Hypergeometry of Supersymmetric Dualities," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **304** (2011) 797–874, arXiv:0910.5944 [hep-th].
- [42] F. Benini, P. M. Crichigno, D. Jain, and J. Nian, "Semichiral fields on S^2 and generalized Kähler geometry," *JHEP* **01** (2016) 060, arXiv:1505.06207 [hep-th].
- [43] D. Z. Freedman and A. Van Proeyen, *Supergravity*. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, 2012.
- [44] P. van Nieuwenhuizen and A. Waldron, "On Euclidean spinors and Wick rotations," *Phys. Lett.* **B389** (1996) 29–36, arXiv:hep-th/9608174 [hep-th].
- [45] J. Nian, "Localization of Supersymmetric Chern-Simons-Matter Theory on a Squashed S^3 with $SU(2) \times U(1)$ Isometry," *JHEP* **07** (2014) 126, arXiv:1309.3266 [hep-th].
- [46] A. S. Losev, A. V. Marshakov, and N. A. Nekrasov, "Small instantons, little strings and free

- fermions," in From Fields to Strings: Circumnavigating Theoretical Physics: Ian Kogan Memorial Collection (In 3 Volumes), pp. 581–621. World Scientific, 2005.
- [47] N. Nekrasov and A. Okounkov, "Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions," *Prog. Math.* **244** (2006) 525–596, arXiv:hep-th/0306238 [hep-th].
- [48] M. Eto, Y. Isozumi, M. Nitta, K. Ohashi, and N. Sakai, "Instantons in the Higgs phase," *Phys. Rev.* **D72** (2005) 025011, arXiv:hep-th/0412048 [hep-th].
- [49] N. Drukker, T. Okuda, and F. Passerini, "Exact results for vortex loop operators in 3d supersymmetric theories," *JHEP* **07** (2014) 137, arXiv:1211.3409 [hep-th].
- [50] E. Gerchkovitz, J. Gomis, and Z. Komargodski, "Sphere Partition Functions and the Zamolodchikov Metric," *JHEP* 11 (2014) 001, arXiv:1405.7271 [hep-th].
- [51] V. Mitev and E. Pomoni, "2D CFT blocks for the 4D class S_k theories," *JHEP* **08** (2017) 009, arXiv:1703.00736 [hep-th].
- [52] T. Bourton and E. Pomoni, "Instanton counting in class \mathcal{S}_k ," J. Phys. A **53** no. 16, (2020) 165401, arXiv:1712.01288 [hep-th].
- [53] N. Seiberg, "Electric magnetic duality in supersymmetric nonAbelian gauge theories," Nucl. Phys. **B435** (1995) 129–146, arXiv:hep-th/9411149 [hep-th].
- [54] S. Elitzur, A. Giveon, and D. Kutasov, "Branes and $\mathcal{N}=1$ duality in string theory," *Phys. Lett.* **B400** (1997) 269–274, arXiv:hep-th/9702014 [hep-th].
- [55] M. Shifman and A. Yung, "Confinement in N=1 SQCD: One step beyond Seiberg's duality," *Phys. Rev.* **D76** (2007) 045005, arXiv:0705.3811 [hep-th].
- [56] N. Hama and K. Hosomichi, "Seiberg-Witten Theories on Ellipsoids," JHEP 09 (2012) 033, arXiv:1206.6359 [hep-th]. [Addendum: JHEP10,051(2012)].
- [57] A. Bawane, G. Bonelli, M. Ronzani, and A. Tanzini, " $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theories on $S^2\times S^2$ and Liouville Gravity," *JHEP* **07** (2015) 054, arXiv:1411.2762 [hep-th].
- [58] L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, and Y. Tachikawa, "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories," Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 167–197, arXiv:0906.3219 [hep-th].
- [59] N. Bobev, H. Elvang, D. Z. Freedman, and S. S. Pufu, "Holography for $\mathcal{N}=2^*$ on S^4 ," JHEP 07 (2014) 001, arXiv:1311.1508 [hep-th].
- [60] N. A. Nekrasov, "Localizing gauge theories," in Mathematical physics. Proceedings, 14th International Congress, ICMP 2003, Lisbon, Portugal, July 28-August 2, 2003, pp. 645–654. 2003.
- [61] M. Bershtein, G. Bonelli, M. Ronzani, and A. Tanzini, "Exact results for $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric gauge theories on compact toric manifolds and equivariant Donaldson invariants," *JHEP* **07** (2016) 023, arXiv:1509.00267 [hep-th].
- [62] J. Gomis, P.-S. Hsin, Z. Komargodski, A. Schwimmer, N. Seiberg, and S. Theisen, "Anomalies, Conformal Manifolds, and Spheres," *JHEP* 03 (2016) 022, arXiv:1509.08511 [hep-th].
- [63] A. Arabi Ardehali, J. T. Liu, and P. Szepietowski, "c-a from the $\mathcal{N}=1$ superconformal index," *JHEP* 12 (2014) 145, arXiv:1407.6024 [hep-th].

- [64] A. Arabi Ardehali, J. T. Liu, and P. Szepietowski, "Central charges from the $\mathcal{N}=1$ superconformal index," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** no. 9, (2015) 091603, arXiv:1411.5028 [hep-th].
- [65] F. Fucito, J. F. Morales, R. Poghossian, and A. Tanzini, " $\mathcal{N}=1$ superpotentials from multi-instanton calculus," *JHEP* **01** (2006) 031, arXiv:hep-th/0510173 [hep-th].
- [66] F. Ferrari, "Microscopic quantum superpotential in $\mathcal{N}=1$ gauge theories," *JHEP* **10** (2007) 065, arXiv:0707.3885 [hep-th].
- [67] A. Gadde, S. S. Razamat, and B. Willett, "Lagrangian' for a Non-Lagrangian Field Theory with $\mathcal{N}=2$ Supersymmetry," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115** no. 17, (2015) 171604, arXiv:1505.05834 [hep-th].
- [68] P. Agarwal, K. Maruyoshi, and J. Song, "A 'Lagrangian' for the E_7 superconformal theory," JHEP 05 (2018) 193, arXiv:1802.05268 [hep-th].
- [69] K. Maruyoshi and J. Song, "Enhancement of Supersymmetry via Renormalization Group Flow and the Superconformal Index," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 118 no. 15, (2017) 151602, arXiv:1606.05632 [hep-th].
- [70] K. Maruyoshi and J. Song, " $\mathcal{N} = 1$ deformations and RG flows of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs," *JHEP* **02** (2017) 075, arXiv:1607.04281 [hep-th].
- [71] P. Agarwal, K. Maruyoshi, and J. Song, " $\mathcal{N}=1$ Deformations and RG flows of $\mathcal{N}=2$ SCFTs, part II: non-principal deformations," *JHEP* **12** (2016) 103, arXiv:1610.05311 [hep-th]. [Addendum: JHEP04,113(2017)].
- [72] S. S. Razamat, C. Vafa, and G. Zafrir, "4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ from 6d (1, 0)," *JHEP* **04** (2017) 064, arXiv:1610.09178 [hep-th].
- [73] I. Bah, A. Hanany, K. Maruyoshi, S. S. Razamat, Y. Tachikawa, and G. Zafrir, "4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ from 6d $\mathcal{N}=(1,0)$ on a torus with fluxes," *JHEP* **06** (2017) 022, arXiv:1702.04740 [hep-th].